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OUR 
ACHIEVEMENTS IN 

2019
As a leading bank in innovative solutions, in 2019, we have introduced 
new, upgraded Internet Banking  & Smart Banking services that are 
based on AI technology, and also launched the first ever, data analysis 
based Personal Finance Management (PFM) tool- “My finance” 
function within the Digital Banking Service. 
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Dear Shareholders, Valued Customers, Partners 
and Colleagues, 

With the conclusion of the 2019 financial year, it is 
my pleasure to present to you the Golomt Bank’s 
Annual Report.  Mongolia enjoyed several years 
of improving market environment and positive 
growth trajectory, but into the reporting year, 
growth started slowing with 5.1% GDP growth 
in 2019 against 7.2% growth in 2018.  While the 
beginning of 2019 saw positive inflow of FDI, the 
economy gradually neutralized concluding the 
year with negative contribution from net exports 
and increased total foreign debt to reach more 
than double the GDP.  

The banking sector was no exception to the 
slowing economic growth, as tightening financial 
market and regulatory framework caused 
headwinds and slowing business growth.  But 
despite the obstacles the Board continued its 
efforts in strengthening the Bank’s operations and 
skillfully refined its strategic leadership.  Mid of 
2019, the Board brought in a new Chief Executive 
Officer, Mr. Norihiko Kato, with extensive banking 
experience of more than three decades in not only 

Greetings from the 

CHAIRPERSON 

The banking sector was no exception to the slowing economic growth, as 

tightening financial market and regulatory framework caused headwinds and 

slowing business growth.  Despite the obstacles the Board continued its efforts in 

strengthening the bank’s operations and refined its strategic leadership.  
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MUNKHTSETSEG Chultem
Chairperson of the Board

international banking and finance sectors such as Japan, United States, Europe and the Middle East, 
but also valuable insight of the Mongolian banking sector.  With new leadership in the Management, 
the Board also made several modifications in the organizational structure to suit the evolving needs of 
the Bank.  New approach and refreshed Management allowed us to focus on improving efficiency and 
increasing productivity throughout the Bank’s operations all the while without losing focus on selective 
business growth.  

The beginning of year 2020 is proving to be one of the most challenging times for the world due to the 
global pandemic caused by the virus COVID-19.  In these unprecedented times, Golomt Bank continues 
its traditional culture of being of service to the community.  We are committed to supporting all our 
customers in overcoming these trying times safely together.  

Yours sincerely,
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Greetings from the 

CEO

Mongolia’s GDP growth weakened in 2019 to 5.1%, 
after the recovery of 5.4% in 2017 and 7.2% in 2018, 
mainly due to slowdown of mining sector with 
declining commodity prices and slower mineral 
exports. After a rapid expansion of credit in the 
country’s banking system in 2018, the Bank of 
Mongolia introduced regulation to tighten the 
conditions for consumer loans and increased the 
banks’ Tier1 capital ratio requirement. 

Under the slowing economy with tightened 
regulatory environment in 2019, the bank carefully 
managed its loan growth and increased the 
loan portfolio by 3.9% to MNT 3,307 billion while 
increasing customer deposits by 11.3% to MNT 
4,901 billion. With careful funding cost control, 
the bank could increase net interest income by 
24.1% to MNT 212 billion. The bank, however, had 
hefty credit expense of MNT 135 billion, 104.8% 
increase from MNT 66.2 billion in 2018 addressing 
problem loans proactively and focusing on 
workout of non-performing loans. Net interest 
income after provisioning was MNT 76.4 billion, 
decreased by 26.9% from MNT 104.6 billion of 2018. 
Consequently, net profit after tax was MNT 16.3 
billion, 69.5% down from MNT 53.5 billion of 2018.  
Overall, 2019 was a year that Golomt Bank focused 
more on quality and risk control than quantity. 
The bank implemented several organization 

With adequate number of branches and strong digital banking services, the bank 

has further increased retail banking business. The bank’s strong knowledge and 

support in apartment constructions and mortgage loan services contribute to 

improving Mongolian people’s housing and living standard. 

changes and expanded committee structure to further strengthen the governance and promote open-
minded discussions and transparency in the bank’s day to day business and operations. Independent 
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Chief Executive Officer
Norihiko Kato

risk management functions identify and monitor the bank’s all risks in order to take timely measures. 
We improved system support for credit process and strengthened credit portfolio monitoring. In human 
resources management, we enhanced comprehensive performance evaluation and compensation 
system and introduced new training programs including ones for middle and senior managers. The 
bank worked hard to strengthen the bank’s solid foundation for further future growth.  

As an all-round systemic bank in Mongolia, Golomt Bank is determined to provide Corporate, SME and 
Retail customers with the highest level of comprehensive and full banking services. Our traditionally 
strong corporate banking capability is a source of higher level of financial skills and services that we 
may spread to SME banking services. We have increased our focus on banking services to SMEs, the 
important sector to lead the Mongolia’s economic development to the next level. 

With adequate number of branches and strong digital banking services, the bank has further increased 
its retail banking business. The bank’s strong knowledge and support in apartment constructions and 
mortgage loan services contribute to improving Mongolian people’s housing and living standard. 

Together with our custodian function and the alliance with Golomt Capital LLC, the bank aims to meet 
customers’ wide variety of financial needs and thus also contribute to the development of Mongolia’s 
capital market.

The bank received “Best Digital Bank in Mongolia 2019” award from Global Finance magazine. The 
bank’s innovative approach with strong IT development capability is continuously improving the bank’s 
digital banking products and services including AI solutions. We also apply our IT capability to make our 
business process management more effective and operations system more user-friendly and efficient.

Golomt Bank is a founding member of UNEP-FI’s “Principles for Responsible Banking” initiative. The 
bank formed a bank-wide Working Group to develop and integrate Sustainable Finance in our business; 
improving environmental and social risk management system and promoting green finance. The bank 
seriously pay attention to Environment, Social and Governance (ESG) and aim to contribute for the 
country to achieve the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).  

From the beginning of 2020, the world is facing tremendous challenges caused by coronavirus, 
COVID-19. It is too soon to estimate the impact of the pandemic that would be profound. We are  
determined to serve our customers at our best to fight against and overcome the difficulties together. 

Golomt Bank welcomes its 25th anniversary in 2020. I thank all our customers, partners and stakeholders 
for the continued business and support to the bank and thank the bank’s all staff for their hard work and 
dedication. We look forward to serving more in the years ahead. 
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SHAREHOLDERS
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Golomt Financial Group LLC is a financial group holding company, established in 2014, and the major 
shareholder of Golomt Bank. It holds equity investments in financial sector businesses and is solely 
owned by Mr. Bayasgalan Danzandorj, who is the ultimate beneficiary owner, one of the founders, 
former CEO and former Chairman of Golomt Bank.

Golomt Investments Limited  was established in 2014 as a subsidiary and investment vehicle of Bodi 
International LLC, which is one of the first conglomerates in Mongolia and majority-owned by Mr. 
Bayasgalan Danzandorj. Bodi International LLC was established in 1993, and is holding the owner’s non-
financial businesses, managing more than 10 subsidiaries and associate companies in a variety of sectors 
such as real estate development and management, construction, energy, and mining. 

Swiss-Mo Investments AG is a Swiss investment fund, holds equity interests in exchange, airports, 
airlines and hotel businesses. It is majority-owned by leading Swiss philanthropist, investor, Mr. Urs Ernst 
Schwarzenbach.

Fortunate Golomt – ESOP represents 149 key employees of the Bank under the Employee Stock 
Ownership Program (ESOP). Although the ownership portion is 1.08%, the shareholders supported 
employee representation in the Board and assigned one seat to the ESOP.

Shareholder Structure



GOVERNANCE 
We are working to create a decision-making system 

that balances the interests of all stakeholders.

Corporate 
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Member
Mr. Unenbat Jigjid

Mr.Unenbat was an independent member of the Board between 
2010 - 2019, and became non-executive member since 2019.  He 
holds Bachelor’s degree in Economics and Statistics from Moscow 
State University of Economics and Statistics (1985), and Master’s 
degree in International Affairs from Columbia University, USA (1994). 
He started his career at the Bank of Mongolia in 1990. He was the 
Governor of the Bank of Mongolia 1996-2000. Mr.Unenbat was the 
Executive Director of the Corporate Governance Development 
Center during 2009-2015 and also the Executive Director of the 
Mongolian Bankers Association from 2015 till February, 2020.

Board of Directors

Chairperson
Mrs. Munkhtsetseg Chultem

Mrs. Munkhtsetseg has been the Chairperson of the Board since 
December 2013. She holds a Bachelor’s degree in Electrical 
Engineering from the Polytechnic University (now University of 
Science and Technology) of Mongolia (1993). In 2001, she received 
MBA degree from John Hopkins University in the USA. She also 
completed the executive courses from Oxford University, UK (2015) 
and Harvard University, USA (2016). She started her career from the 
Mongolian Stock Exchange in 1996, and continued with consulting, 
managerial and executive roles at the World Bank, Asia Foundation, 
and Nepko Publishing Company. She founded the Toim magazine 
in 2010. She was appointed as Board member of Golomt Bank in 
December 2012. 

Member
Mr. Urs Ernst Schwarzenbach

Mr. Schwarzenbach has been a member of the Board since 2011. 
Mr. Schwarzenbach graduated from the University of Zurich. He 
worked for the Union Bank in Zurich in 1968 and in London in 1972. 
He started his own business in 1976. In 2000, he was awarded an 
honorary Doctorate of Law from St. Francis Xavier University in 
Nova Scotia, Canada. He is the Honorary Consul of Mongolia for the 
German speaking part of Switzerland.

Member
Mr. Munkhtur Dagva 

Mr. Munkhtur was appointed as a member of the Board in 
December 2012, representing the ESOP members.
Mr. Munkhtur holds a Bachelor’s degree in Financial Management 
from National University of Mongolia – School of Economic studies 
(1997) and a MBA from Oklahoma University, USA (2009). Mr. 
Munkhtur joined the bank in 1996 and had served as the Director of 
Credit Division, Director of Operations Division, and Executive VP & 
COO. 
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Independent Member 
Mr. James Bernard Dwyer

Mr. Dwyer joined the bank’s Board in 2018. He holds a Bachelor’s 
degree in Business Management from Notre Dame University, 
and a MBA from Columbia University, USA. He has an extensive 
investment banking experience, as he worked as the head of 
cross-border M&A for Union Bank of Switzerland since 1970, and 
also worked at Wall Street based investment banks. He was lead 
investment banker for privatizations of Khan Bank and Trade & 
Development Bank of Mongolia in 2001. He also served as the 
Director of Operations of North American Business Council, and 
in 2007 founded the Business Council of Mongolia, served as its 
Executive Director till 2017. He is an independent board member 
of Mandal Insurance JSC, Mongolia Growth Group LLC and Vice 
Chairman of Board of the Mongoljin Private Capital. He is also the 
Chairman and President of the Mongolian Education Fund.

Independent Member 
Mr. Antonio López Abelló 

Mr. López Abelló has been an Independent Member of the Board 
since 2014. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in Law from University of 
Barcelona and MBA from IESE Business School. He is a certified 
lawyer of the Barcelona Law Association in Spain and is a Chartered 
Financial Analyst (CFA).  Mr. López Abelló has over 20 years of 
investment banking experience and held senior positions in credit 
and derivatives structuring at Credit Suisse in Singapore and at 
Goldman Sachs and Banque Paribas in London. He is a founder and 
a managing partner of the Turms Advisors LLP, a Singapore-based 
investment banking firm.

Member
Mrs. Bolormaa Luvsandorj

Mrs. Bolormaa was appointed as a Board member in March 2020. 
She holds a Bachelor’s degree in Banking and Finance from 
National University of Mongolia, Master’s degree in International 
Economics from Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University 
and a MBA degree from International University of Japan. She is a 
Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA).  She started her career at Ardyn 
Bank in Mongolia in 1992, and expanded her professional experience 
at Deutsche Bank NY and Tokyo for nine years.  She also held 
senior positions as First Deputy CEO of the Development Bank of 
Mongolia, CEO of Golomt Financial Group, Chief Investment Officer 
of Golomt Bank, Chairperson of Golomt Capital. She also served 
on the boards of the Mongolian Stock Exchange, the Ulaanbaatar 
Development Corporation, and Mandal Insurance and currently is a 
Chairperson of Women Entrepreneurs Council at MNCCI.
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Governance Structure

Within the vision of becoming “Mongolia’s Global benchmark bank”, we aim to bring our corporate 
governance to international standard. We focus on having fully qualified board of directors with correct 
experience and we continuously improve our decision-making system to achieve the best balances of 
the interests of all stakeholders.

In 2019, the Board of Directors met 19 times in regular and extraordinary meetings, discussed a total of 
60 issues and resolved 48 issued.

BOARD COMMITTEES

• Audit Committee
• Risk Management Committee
• Governance, Ethics, Remuneration and Nomination Committee

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is comprised of 5 members. Mr. Unenbat. J has been the director of Audit 
Committee since 2017. 

The Audit Committee organizes specialized inspection and examination, reviews confidential 
documents, and is authorized to request necessary materials from related officials within the bank. 
Moreover, the Audit Committee conducts and discusses authority, policy, and risk of audit division and 
provides them to the board while monitoring internal audit’s efficiency, alignment with international 
standards, report quality, and implementation of given methodologies. 
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In 2019, the Audit Committee met a total of 11 regular and extraordinary meetings, discussed 55 issues 
and made relevant recommendations and decisions.

Matters discussed

Internal Audit

Internal audit operation is independent and the Board approves the Internal Audit Division’s policy 
which includes operational scope, authority, and purpose. Internal audit presents its operations and 
activities to the Board and Audit Committee and provides the reports related to units that are audited to 
the executives. 

Main Function of The Internal Audit Are

• Evaluate and confirm that corporate governance, risk management, and internal control structures 
are working efficiently 

• Accurately define and evaluate any potential risks when implementing Bank’s strategy and mission
• Confirm if all executives, employees, and branch companies are following and implementing the 

related laws, policy, governance standards, and official decisions
• Evaluate the efficiency of Bank’s operation, system, and projects while confirming whether the 

Bank’s operation is aligned with the related law, policy, regulation, and governance standards
• Conducts advisory service to improve and inspect Bank’s operations as per request of executives. 

In 2019, the bank’s board updated and approved the Internal Auditor's Code of Ethics in order to fully 
comply with the International Professional Practices issued by the International Institute of Internal 
Auditors. The Internal Audit is conducted based on risk-based approach and audits the highest risk units 
and activities. 

Highlights For 2019

• We established Information Technology Audit and trained a specialized data analysis team and 
successfully automated remote auditing which results in more efficient audit process. 

• We established a new Remote Audit and Quality Assurance Department and conducted internal 
evaluations under the Quality Assurance and Improvement Program for the first time.

• Also we conducted a cultural audit for the first time in 2019, involving 378 employees from 25 units.

The Risk Management Committee

The Risk Management Committee is responsible for creating a unified risk management framework. 
During the reporting period, compliance and credit policies were improved and credit risk limit 
policies were renewed. In the reporting period the committee met 17 times to address and provide 
recommendations to 50 matters. 
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The Governance, Ethics, Remuneration And Nomination Committee

Governance, Ethics, Remuneration and Nomination Committee directs and defines human resource 
and remuneration policies and resolves matters related to ethics and governance. In addition, the 
committee evaluates the performances of Board and CEO while providing advisory service to the 
executives. In 2019, the committee met 7 times to resolve and make recommendations on 20 issues.



TEAM
Management
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Mrs.Khishigjargal 
Jambal 
Director of Financial 
Institution and 
Investment Division

Mr.Purevdorj 
Khalzan 
Director of 
Administration 
Division 

Mrs.Otgon 
Tolya 
Director of Risk 
Management 
Division

Mr.Odonbaatar 
Amarzaya 
Chief Auditor

Mrs. Nyamsuren 
Tumur-Ochir
Deputy CEO and 
CCO

Mr. Ganbold 
Galsan
President

Mr. Norihiko Kato
Chief Executive 
Officer

Mr. Sainbileg 
Mandakh
CIO

Senior Management Team 
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Mr.Bayartbileg 
Bayaraa 
Director of Credit 
Division 

Mrs.Munkhtuya 
Suren 
Director of Financial 
Management 
Division 

Mr.Battsengel 
Oidov 
Director of 
Information 
Technology 
Division

Mr.Purevbat 
Yondon 
Director of 
Operation Division 

Mr.Narankhuu 
Munkhbat
Director of 
Business Process 
Management 
Division

Mrs.Uyanga 
Ganbold 
Director of 
Human Resource 
Management 
Division

Mrs.Baigalmaa 
Tserenjav  
Director of Retail 
and SME Business 
Division 

Mr.Badral 
Dandar 
Director of 
Corporate 
Banking Division 
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Organizational Structure of Golomt Bank 
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Financial

HIGHLIGHTS

In 2019, we maintained our strategy to increase efficiency, cost 
controlling, and optimize asset liability management. We continued 

to focus on profitable sectors and maintained our balanced loan 
portfolio, and were able to increase our interest earning assets. 
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Financial Year 2019 Results

In 2019, we, Golomt Bank, achieved progressive business results, and operational stability after 
implementing a two-year internal process re-engineering projects. We have also attested ourselves with 
in the face of a complex business environment and stricter banking sector regulations. 

In terms of financials, in 2019, we  earned MNT 250 billion in operating income (not including swap 
impact) and MNT 16.3 billion in net income. Our total assets grew by 9% and reached MNT 6.6 trillion, 
which is 18.5% share of the market by total assets (the third largest bank by assets) in the system. We 
have also mantained our market shares across the business lines and products. Our net loans grew by 
3.9%, reaching MNT 3.3 trillion, 18% share of the total loan market. Total customer deposits grew by 11.3%, 
reaching MNT 4.9 trillion, which makes us possessing 20% share of the total deposit market (the second 
largest bank by deposits) as of 2019 year end. We were also able to decrease our NPL ratio from 5.4% 
(2018) to 4.3% by the end of 2019 thanks to our effective asset quality management. 

OPERATING RESULTS

Our net income for 2019 reached MNT 16.3 billion, which was lower than the last years MNT 53.5 billion. 
This is mainly due to increased provisioning. Operating income without the swap valuation impact 
increased by 8% while the total operating income decreased by 14% for the year. The net interest income 
has increased by 24% in 2018 from MNT 171 billion to MNT 212 billion as a result of successful asset liability 
management. 

Total Assets
(MNT billion)

Operating Income (MNT billion)
+8% YoY Growth

Net Interest Margin
+0.0% Maintained

Net Loans
(MNT billion)

Customer Deposits
(MNT billion)

Operating Income
(MNT billion) * Without Swap impact
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Assets

In 2019, our total assets grew by 9% (MNT 562 
billion) and reached MNT 6.64 trillion as compared 
to MNT 6.08 trillion in previous year. The assets 
growth was mainly driven by the increased 
customer funds and steady growth of loans. 
The Customer-Centric Business Model has 
helped launching new products and channels 
for growing customer deposits, which in turn 
enabled the asset growth. 

Loan Portfolio

We held a conservative loan growth strategy, 
while maintaining our market share. As a result, 
our loan portfolio grew by 3.9% in 2019. 

For Retail loan segment, the loan growth was 
positive. We also increased consumer and 
manufacturing sector loans, but decreased 
the trade, construction, mortgage and mining 
sector loans. With our continued efforts to better 
manage our Non-Performing Loans (NPL) in 2019, 
we were able to reduce the NPL ratio level from 
5.4% to 4.3%. 

Cost Income Ratio
1.3% Increase

Total Assets (MNT billion)
+9% YoY Growth for 2019

Net Loans (MNT billion)
+3.9% YoY Growth for 2019

Customer Deposits (MNT billion
+11% YoY Growth for 2019

In 2019, we maintained our strategy to increase 
efficiency, cost controlling, and optimize asset 
liability management. We continued to focus on 
profitable sectors and maintained our balanced 
loan portfolio, and were able to increase our 
interest earning assets. The continued efforts 
resulted in the net interest margin at 4.1%  in 
2019. However our cost income ratio did increase 
slighlty from 47.5% to 48.8% in 2019.

Liabilities

The main driver of the liabilities growth was 
the increase of customer deposits which grew 
by 11% (MNT 498 billion) from MNT 4.4 trillion 
to 4.9 trillion. As of year-end 2019, customer 
deposits comprised 79% of total liabilities and  the 
proportion of borrowed funds increased from 13% 
to 15%,while the due to banks decreased from 3% 
to 1%.
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Liabilities Structure 2019 Liabilities Structure 2018

Equity

In 2019, we have increased our capital base by MNT 29 billion, which represents a 4.8% growth, from MNT 
606 billion to MNT 663 billion as of year-end.  Additional equity increase came from the capital injected 
by the majority shareholder, Golomt Financial Group LLC, along with the conversion of Tier 2 capital to 
Tier 1. 

Total Equity
+9% YoY Growth for 2019

Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR)

The bank has maintained its equity growth over the years despite the economic downturns. The equity 
growth over the last two years were mostly driven by new capital injections and operating results. With 
this growth of equity, we fulfilled all prudential ratio requirements set by the regulator while maintaining 
our loan market share.  
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FINANCIAL RESULTS OVER THE LAST 5 YEARS

Financial Result (MNT million) 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Balance Sheet Indicators (MNT million)

Total Assets  3,804,842  4,658,343  5,204,584  6,081,113  6,643,136 

Customer funds  2,079,801  2,803,328  3,453,920  4,402,648  4,900,642 

Borrowed funds - Co-financed funds  1,014,935  1,195,870  757,897  715,853  916,032 

Net Loans  2,013,611  2,034,860  2,318,058  3,183,724  3,306,694 

Total Capital  428,181  453,707  488,675  605,578  634,505 

Profitability Indicators (MNT million)

Interest Income  314,830  331,900  409,220  493,961  577,892 

Interest Expense  (213,295)  (246,416)  (287,230)  (323,255)  (366,007)

Net Interest Income  101,534  85,484  121,990  170,706  211,885 

Net Non-Interest Income  58,454  63,200  8,615  135,621  81,026 

     SWAP valuation impact  41,041  22,376  (43,217)  74,551  43,070 

Operating Income  159,988  148,684  130,605  306,327  292,911 

Operating Income -without SWAP impact  118,947  126,308  173,822  231,775  249,841 

Operating Expense  (75,362)  (77,251)  (85,583)  (110,093)  (122,006)

Operating Profit  84,626  71,433  45,021  196,234  170,905 

Operating Profit -without SWAP impact  43,585  49,057  88,238  121,682  127,835 

Credit and other financial assets' provisioning and 
impairment loss  (51,900)  (58,686)  (36,947)  (94,034)  (146,010)

Decrease in value of properties charged to profit/loss  (20,158)  (26,600)  -   

Pre-Tax Profit  32,726  12,746  (12,083)  75,600  24,895 

Taxation  (6,742)  (7,473)  6,930  (22,054)  (8,590)

Post -Tax Profit  25,985  5,274  (5,153)  53,546  16,305 

Financial Structure Ratios

Deposits ∕ Total Assets (%) 54.7% 60.2% 66.4% 72.4% 73.8%

Tier1 Capital∕ Total Assets (%) 8.3% 6.7% 6.2% 7.2% 6.5%

Net Loans ∕ Total Assets (%) 52.9% 43.7% 44.5% 52.4% 49.8%

Profitability

Return on Average Assets (%) 0.7% 0.1% #N/A 1.0% 0.3%

Return on Average Equity (%) 8.7% 1.7% #N/A 16.1% 3.3%

Net Interest Margin (%) 4.2% 2.8% 3.3% 4.1% 4.1%

Cost Income Ratio (%) 47.1% 52.0% 65.5% 35.9% 41.7%

Cost Income Ratio -without SWAP impact (%) 63.4% 61.2% 49.2% 47.5% 48.8%

Prudential Ratios

Capital Adequacy Ratio >12% (Before 2019 >14%) 16.6% 14.8% 14.4% 15.4% 14.9%

Forex Exposure Ratios:

      Total Currency <+∕-30% (Before 2019 <+∕-40% ) 12.0% 15.0% 16.3% 4.2% 12.7%

      Single Currency <+∕-15% 10.7% 7.5% 11.8% 1.9% 0.8%

Single Borrower Exposure/Capital funds <20% 18.2% 18.5% 16.8% 15.3% 15.0%

Related Party Exposure <5% 3.9% 4.6% 4.2% 3.8% 4.4%

Related Party Exposure-Total <20% 17.0% 17.0% 17.9% 16.6% 15.6%

Liquidity Ratio >25% 38.1% 44.8% 44.5% 36.7% 32.6%

Fixed Assets Ratio <8% 4.7% 5.1% 4.8% 3.3% 3.7%
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BANKING
Corporate 

The corporate banking portfolio increased by 54.7 
percent equivalent of MNT 600 billion, reaching MNT 1.7 
trillion. Lending reached MNT 2.1 trillion, accounting for 
20.5 percent of the market. 
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Corporate Business

In 2019, we continued providing comprehensive and tailor-made solutions to each of our corporate 
clients, including working capital and long-term investment loan, cash management and treasury 
solutions as well as platforms for experience sharing and consultations.  

We have increased financing to the socio-economically important sectors. We have also financed several 
projects in manufacturing industry to increase the production and efficiency of our customers:
• Pharmaceutical manufacturing output increased by MNT 7 BILLION 
• Dairy production output increased by 15 new products and  432 TONS
• 51 MILLION egg packaging is automated 
• 6’400 TONS of  waste recycling is enabled

We have also supported two of our clients, Tumen Shuvuut LLC and Monos Khuns LLC, in their domestic 
market listing - IPO and successful raising of MNT 6.8 billion and MNT 10 billion respectively.  

MAJOR PROJECTS AND FINANCING IN 2019

New construction projects 

Financed large innovative and luxury construction projects such as 
• Sky Garden
• Garden City
• Baga Tengeriin Am

Infrastructure developments

• Provided bank guarantee to MCS International LLC for the construction of the Sainshand Wind 
Park 55MW substation and transmission line. As a result, the plant can supply electricity to 100,000 
households. 
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• Provided a bank guarantee to a joint consortium of MCS International LLC and Mitsubishi Hitachi 
Power Systems LLC of Japan on a project of MNT 105 billion to improve the efficiency of TPP-4 in 
Ulaanbaatar. 

• Provided banking services to a joint consortium of MCS International LLC and Sharp Corporation 
for the “Zamiin-Uud Gegeen 15 MW Solar Power Plant” to be built in the border city Zamiin-Uud of 
Dornogovi province. 

• Financed the 15 MW Solar Power Plant project in Khushugt Valley, which is the second largest solar 
power plant in Mongolia, built by MCS International LLC.

• Provided working capital and guarantee to White Phoenix LLC for a project to provide water, waste 
management and heating infrastructure to a total of 2,234 households in the “ger” area in the 
northern part of Ulaanbaatar city.

In manufacturing sector:

• Refinanced the loan of Monos Pharm LLC for its GMP plant. 
• Provided investment and working capital loans for Milco LLC, a subsidiary of Teso Corporation, to 

expand the dairy market, to produce and export new products, and support the purchase of milk 
from herders and farmers.

• Financed a new cashmere textile plant with a production output of 100,000 units for Khanbogd 
Cashmere LLC. 

• Provided a long-term equipment financing to Tumen Shuvuut JSC for its egg processing plant. This 
helps increasing the local production of eggs and substituting imports. 
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In trade and services sector

• Financed the latest supermarket franchise store E-Mart-3 project in the Khan-Uul district. 
• Provided investment loan to CU convenience chain stores.
• Provided investment loan to the local franchise of Circle K, the world's largest convention chain store, 

to implement a 2 new petrol station and convenience stores that meet international standards.
• Financed the expansion of Unitel LLC, a major player in the telecommunications industry, for 

growing its business and in the first half of 2019, the company was able to increase total number of 
active users by 35%.

In mining sector

• Financed the award winning “Underground Mine facility” project which was implemented by 
MCS Property LLC. It was awarded the “Civil Engineering Project Award” for 2019 by the Asian Civil 
Engineering Coordinating Council (ACECC), as the first awardee from Mongolia.  

 • Provided bank guarantee and financing to MCS International LLC for expanding the capacity of the 
Thermal Power Plant at the Oyu Tolgoi mining site from 58MW to 72MW.  
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In airline sector

• Coordinated the financing for a helicopter from the United States for GrandMed hospital ambulance 
services.

• Provided Letter of Credit for MIAT's Wings Aviation LLC's BOING737300EB aircraft rental payments.
• Co-financed the purchase of Hunnu Air's new Embraer-190 aircraft.

Promoting Sustainability

• Financed a paper recycling project named 
“ECO paper” by Munkhiin Useg LLC, for 
recycling old papers to make cardboard boxes. 
With the new plant in operation, 6400 tons of 
waste will be turned into cardboards. 

EVENTS

Financial Management Conference

We organized the first “Financial Management Conference” with participation of 500 of the top financial 
managers and executives of the top corporations in Mongolia. It was a widely participated, successful 
networking and knowledge sharing event to support our core partners and showcased our banks 
commitment to harbor growth and knowledge sharing amongst our customers. 
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Golomt Gold Forum

Second year in a row we have successfully 
organized the “Golomt Gold Forum” in 2019. 
With our strong and active presence in physical 
gold trading in Mongolia, the forum aimed to 
provide latest information on macro environment, 
pricing, future trends and the bank’s policy on 
gold market. Proceeding from last year event, we 
attracted a high attendance that included the top 
150 gold mining companies of Mongolia.

One Belt One Road Seminar

In cooperation with Ministry of Foreign Affairs and the Representative office of Bank of China in 
Ulaanbaatar, we organized the “One Belt One Road” Seminar amongst the state owned Chinese 
companies undertaking projects in Mongolia.  



SME & Retail

BANKING  
Contributed to the development 
of retail and SME clients through 
introduction of new products 
and services for retail and real 
estate sector while improving our 
customer services. 
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We believe that SMEs, when properly supported, foster entrepreneurship, diversify the economy and 
create jobs bringing in innovations and economic growth. We engage and provide full banking services 
to over 2800 SMEs in Mongolia and are always striving to best serve our SME’s needs and support them 
in their growth. 

Empowering women in micro and small businesses 

In collaboration with KOICA (The Korea International Cooperation Agency) and Asia Foundation, Golomt 
Bank has continued to provide variety of business training and consulting services to over 720 women 
owned SMEs and micro businesses for the 3rd year in a row.  The training program aims to build capacity 
through educating in areas such as accounting, business analysis, project development etc.

SME Segment

Business Forums in the Rural Area

We have organized business forums in Orkhon, Bayan-Ulgii and Umnugovi provinces to support local 
businesses.  The series of business forums involved more than 750 entrepreneurs, and provided the 
participants with new socio-economic knowledge, advice on how to effectively and efficiently manage 
the organization's internal management, human resources and financial management. In addition, 
funding and flexible banking services were provided on the spot, bringing banking services closer to 
local businesses.

Out
of our

Women business center

70,000
corporate customers

23,000has either women
director or women

shareholder based on our system
53%
issued to women or women owned businesses

of our outstanding
loans were
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NEXT CHAMPIONS 2019 Management forum 

For the third year running we organized the Next 
Champions 2019 management forum for our SME 
clients. The events has become a staple within 
our SME clients as a platform to increase their 
competitiveness and market intelligence while 
participating in a knowledge sharing event with 
heavy industry players and top managers on 
management skills and methods, achievement, 
best practice and innovation. The event was 
attended by more than 600 SME’s in Mongolia 
and this year we offered long term low interest 
financing opportunities during the event to our 
SME clients.

PROJECT FORUM 2019

We have organized the first “Project Forum 2019” for real estate companies in Mongolia together with 
the relevant agencies.  By organizing this forum, we supported our clients with the opportunity to 
introduce their projects to a wider audience and promoted the banking products that aimed at real 
estate sector. 



40 GOLOMT 
BANK

With our retail banking platform, we serve about one third of the population of Mongolia. Our retail 
customers are mostly comprised of mid- and upper income group and young professionals. Moreover, 
we have the largest retail network in Ulaanbaatar city compared to our peers. As the urban retail bank, 
we continue enhancing our service platform with state-of-the-art banking technologies. 

DIRECT SALES UNIT

A new “Direct Sales Unit” has been established to deliver banking services directly at the customers' 
locations. A total of 117,000 products and services were sold at more than 40 shopping malls, 20 
universities, 35 partner organizations, and 50 branches in Ulaanbaatar city through “Happy Week” sales 
events or direct sales agents. 

Retail Banking Business

NEW PRODUCTS LAUNCHED IN 2019:

• The Color Card - with an innovative design and advanced NFC technology to meet the growing 
demand for our younger customers aged 10-22. 

• Inflight transaction service – is introduced in September 2019 in cooperation with MIAT - Mongolian 
Airlines.

• NFC technology for remote reading of MasterCard, Visa and Union Pay brand cards, and diversifying 
the currency options to include MNT, USD and CNY on our Visa, MasterCard and Union Pay brands.
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CUSTOMER SERVICE 

In 2019 we expanded our customer service channels with 9 different platforms, so a customer can 
connect and receive information from anywhere. We also started offering the following services online:
• Open standard internet banking access 
• Obtain login ID for internet banking 

The Call Center

It can be reached from any part of the globe 
and works 24/7 to resolve issues and serve our 
customers. In 2019 over 1 million customers 
contacted our Contact Center, and 94 percent 
had their issued solved within first call. This is an 
increase of 3 percent from last year.

We have also streamlined the re-contact care procedures for those customers who disconnected 
prematurely, re-dialed or couldn’t get through to the contact center.  With the screening procedure in 
place every 15 minutes, we were able to reconnect with all the missed calls. 
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Digital

BANKING 
Introduced new services based on consumer behavior and 
consumption while making the interface easy to use. In addition 
we introduced additional features based on AI while delivering 
brand new color and design solution. 
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In 2019, we reformed our digital banking channels such as Internet banking and Smart banking and 
introduced DIGITAL BANKING 5.0 version to our customers. The updated platforms are based on 
customer behavior with a user-friendly colors and design with new additional functions based on 
artificial intelligence for our customers.

Digital Banking Business

ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE AND CUSTOMER BEHAVIOR BASED SERVICES

As we always strive to keep up the innovative leader position in the banking industry, we introduced "MY 
FINANCE" menu, first of its kind in Mongolian banking sector, a smart browser that manages customers' 
finances on their behalf. When using the menu, customers can deduct and adjust unrelated income 
and expenses and manage their monthly budget. The easy-to-use tool will help our customers manage 
their personal finances, increase financial literacy, and give insight into their purchasing behavior. 

SOCIALPAY

The Digital Wallet 

It has been three years since we launched the SocialPay application with the aim to provide intuitive, 
fast and advanced technology based banking product and services. The application has become more 
sophisticated and advanced. The new feature launched in 2019 enables any bank card holders to register 
their card on our banks mobile wallet SocialPay application and use it directly for payments, which is the 
first of its kind services that break downs barriers between different banks in terms of payments in the 
Mongolian banking sector. 

In Store

We also introduced the first opportunity for our customers the ability to make payments using the 
digital wallet application for in store purchases. With the help of registering the phone number on QR 
code SocialPay, customers can make payments by selecting the card of their choice. In addition, using 
card reader machines located at 12 partner organizations at 520 points, we introduced the “SocialPay In 
store” service, comprehensive digital payment solution for the first time.
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FIRST VIRTUAL CARD 

Our bank has successfully introduced Mongolia's first Virtual Card. The virtual card eliminates the need 
ordering payment cards in person at the branches. Our customers can use the new virtual card to make 
international payments online and use the card for payments at about 500 points which uses the “In-
store” payment service of our bank. 

MERCHANT PLATFORM

In alignment with our customer centered business model we are always looking for opportunities to 
digitalize our banks products and services. Based on our data analysis methods we were able to develop 
the “Merchant platform” to our corporate clients with a detailed understanding of their customers base 
and forecast future sales and trends. The number of users of the “Merchant platform” has doubled in 
2019. 
 
DATA & INFORMATION SECURITY

In 2019, we have established a new data analysis department dedicated to introducing data analysis 
and data mining methodologies within the bank to support the bank’s decision-making, and guiding 
the development of strategies. We have successfully converted 75% of our bank’s units to use the results 
from the advanced data analysis.

With our growing number of digital interface and users, we have taken the following actions to mitigate 
risk and ensure the security of our customer data.
• Implemented COBIT 5 information technology governance system first time in Mongolia. The official 

assessor of COBIT 5, Process Logic LLC has evaluated the implementation and we have successfully 
received the certification.

• The competency level of 10 key IT processes was improved from 1 to 2, and 60 percent of the process 
was raised to Level 3. 
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Treasury

BUSINESS
Our bank has maintained its leading 

position in the money market for the last 
3 years. We have contributed to increasing 

Mongolia's foreign currency reserves 
fulfilling our duties as leading bank.
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FOREIGN CURRENCY TRADING 

In 2019 our bank has maintained the 30% of the domestic market share in currency trading and provided 
hedging solutions to our clients to mitigate their foreign exchange risk.  In 2019, the total foreign 
currency turnover increased by 14% compared to last year. Aside from the currency trading and hedging, 
we have strengthened our position as the market leader as we were chosen as the primary dealer in the 
interbank FX market every quarter during 2019.

HEDGING 

We have been offering innovative hedging products such as swaps, options and forwards to manage 
clients’ currency risk and we also led the market through our extensive product offerings and capacity.

Treasury Business

GOLD TRADING 

In 2019 our bank has purchased 8.6 tons of pure 
gold which is 65% of the total market share, 
reaffirmed our leading position in the physical 
gold market for the third year running. Over the 
past three years, we have set a new standard of 
service in the Mongolian gold market by providing 
our customers with the most convenient, risk-free, 
efficient and professional service.

Golomt bank Gold market share in %

Apple stock price

Hybrid Savings case study

HYBRID DEPOSITS

It has been two years since the introduction of 
hybrid savings products linked to investment 
instruments trading on the market. Since the 
launch, we have made four updates to the 
conditions of the products, and as a result, the 
maximum interest rate on equity hybrid deposits 
reached 40 percent and the gold deposit rate 
reached 30 percent, with an average deposit 
interest rate performance of 25 percent in the 
reporting year.

We continue to successfully manage the 
downside risk of the linked commodity or stock 
price of the hybrid deposits while increasing 
the earning potential of our customers’ capital 
investment. 

Hybrid savings type Apple
Deposit term 270 days
Start date: 4/22/2019
Lock in date 11/14/2019
Real Interest 29.70%
Annual Interest rate 40%
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GLOBAL INVESTOR PROGRAM

We have also initiated the Global Investor Program with the aim to educate and provide in depth 
information to our customers who are willing to participate in international capital markets. 

As the first step, we organized the “Global Investor” event in March 2019, and introduced investment 
opportunities, hybrid deposits and some successful case studies to over 200 of our customers.
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International 

COOPERATION
In 2019, through 29 internationally renowned banks, we provided 
seamless and fast foreign settlement services for our customers.
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In 2019 we further expanded our international funding capabilities with the purpose to offer flexible 
financing solutions to our clients while continue maintaining our current exposures. Within this scope, 
we have increased our credit lines by USD 65 million with our international partners including the 
International Bank for Economic Cooperation (IBEC), the International Investment Bank (IIB), and 
TransKapitalBank (TKB) from Russia, Bank of Inner Mongolia China, Agricultural Bank of China, ODDO 
BHF from Germany and Aktif Bank from Turkey. 

TRADE FINANCE BUSINESS AND SERVICES

We have continued to support our customers’ import & export businesses between the main trading 
partner countries such as Japan, Korea, Turkey, Denmark, Germany, Czech Republic, Poland, Spain and 
Italy through our LC and bank guarantee facilities by reducing financing cost. 
During 2019, we have accommodated nearly 50% of all LC issuance to China, the largest trading partner 
country of Mongolia. 

Market shares

International Funding and Trade Finance 

Import Letter of Credit Bank guarantee

IMPORT FINANCING

We have financed MNT 187 billion worth import goods in corporation with international partner banks. 
• With the expansion of cooperation with International Investment Bank (IIB) and International Bank 

for Economic Cooperation (IBEC), we provided short-to-medium term financing worth MNT 106 
billion for the import of goods and franchising services with the support of banks trade finance 
programs.

• Short term financing has been extended in USD, EUR, CNY and JPY for the import of construction 
materials, automobiles, appliances, machinery, equipment and consumer goods in partnership with 
Commerzbank AG, ING Bank, ODDO BHF AG, SMBC, Atlantic Forfaitierungs AG, TransKapitalBank 
(TKB) from Russia and ICBC, Baoshang Bank and Bank of Inner Mongolia China.

ECA (EXPORT CREDIT AGENCY) BACKED FINANCING

We concluded the financing for the new mining technology with less-enviromental foot print has been 
delivered to local mining company with the financing facility of Commerzbank AG backed by EULER 
HERMES’s insurance.



53ANNUAL 
REPORT 2019

PRE/POST-EXPORT FINANCING

• With the support of our Chinese partner banks, we financed coal exports under the CNY100 million 
concessional financing agreement. 

• We executed cooperation agreements with international banks on pre-export financing for the 
procurement and production of raw materials, export customs clearance; and on post-export 
financing for supply, transportation and marketing; 

COUNTER GUARANTEE SERVICE

Based on foreign bank guarantees, bid and performance guarantee issuence services worth MNT 
24.5 million were provided to foreign business entities participating in the projects and programs 
implemented in Mongolia.

International Funding and Trade Finance Partners
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By # of transaction By transaction value

We have been offering complete spectrum of international payment solutions for our customers with 
support of our 29 international correspondent banks located in 12 countries. In 2019 we have broadened 
our correspondent banking network with OCBC Bank Singapore and TransKapitalBank (TKB) from 
Russia opening new accounts in the currencies of SGD, USD, EUR and in RUR.  Furthermore, we 
have established cooperation agreement with TransKapitalBank (TKB) to diversify our services in the 
Banknotes and FX trading area.

LEADING BANK IN INTERNATIONAL PAYMENTS

As of YE2019, Golomt Bank is ranked at #1 in the country by both its’ number and value of outward 
customer payments effected. In the Mongolian banking system, total number of 218,172 customer 
transactions with total value of USD 8.2 billion were sent to foreign countries and among which 61,204 
with total value of USD 3.3 billion were handled by the Golomt bank.

#1 BANK IN TERMS OF INTERNATIONAL TRANSACTIONS

Correspondent Banking
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LIST OF CORRESPONDENT BANKS

BANK NAME CCY SWIFT CODE ACCOUNT NUMBER

KOOKMIN BANK, Korea 

USD

CZNBKRSE 819-8-USD-0-15

OCBC BANK, Singapore OCBCSGSG 503-474157-301

SBER BANK, Russia (Moscow) SABRRUMM 301-11840100000000840

KEB HANA, Korea KOEXKRSE 963-THR-313-01-2

SHINHAN BANK, Korea SHBKKRSE 0102245USD01

BANK OF CHINA, China (Erlian) BKCHCNBJ880 155-605293946

BAOSHANG BANK, China (Baotou) BTCBCNBJ 002-105599800020

CHINA CONSTRUCTION BANK, China (Erlian) PCBCCNBJNME NRA15014150500220100181

ICBC BANK, China (Huhhot) ICBKCNBJNMA 061-0040629200061234

BANK OF INNER MONGOLIA, China (Huhhot) HSSYCNBH 115-914236000000184

CHINA CITIC BANK, China (Huhhot) CIBKCNBJ010 727-1111486000000181

BERLINER SPARKASSE, Germany (Berlin) BELADEBE 10050000/3270000250

BANK OF CHINA, Hong Kong BKCHHKHH 012-87560121220

VTB BANK, Russia VTBRRUMM 301-11840155550000104

TRANSKAPITALBANK, Russia TJSCRUMM 301-11840000000000210

RUSSIAN AGRICULTURAL BANK, Russia RUAGRUMM 301-11840300000000006

DBS Bank, Singapore DBSSSGSG 0710-000182-01-5

COMMERZBANK, Germany 

EUR

COBADEFF 400 878 506 501

RAIFFEISEN BANK, Austria RZBAATWW 1-55 076 335

BERLINER SPARKASSE, Germany BELADEBE 10050000/6630008373 

TRANSKAPITALBANK, Russia TJSCRUMM 301-11978600000000210

AGRICULTURAL BANK OF CHINA China (Huhhot)

CNY

ABOCCNBJ050 059-99901040000053

BANK OF CHINA, China (Erlian) BKCHCNBJ880 154-005293944

CHINA CONSTRUCTION BANK, China (Erlian) PCBCCNBJNME 150-01658408052502177

BAOSHANG BANK, China (Baotou) BTCBCNBJ 002-105599800010

ICBC BANK, China (Huhhot) ICBKCNBJNMA 061-0040609200054391

BANK OF INNER MONGOLIA, China (Huhhot) HSSYCNBH 115-901236000000122

BANK OF COMMUNICATIONS, China (Huhhot) COMMCNSHHHH 151-899991010003021570

CHINA CITIC BANK, China (Huhhot) CIBKCNBJ010 727-1110186000000155

BANK OF CHINA, Hong Kong BKCHHKHH 012-87560118495

MIZUHO, Japan

JPY

MHCBJPJT 6740010

SMBC, Japan SMBCJPJT 4374

MUFG Bank, Japan BOTKJPJT 653-0432881

VTB BANK, Russia

RUB

VTBRRUMM 301-11810655550000126

SBER BANK, Russia (Irkutsk) SABRRU66 301-11810618000000001

SBER BANK, Russia ( Moscow) SABR RUM 012 301-11810800000000840

RUSSIAN AGRICULTURAL BANK, Russia RUAGRUMM 301-11810200000000013

TRANSKAPITALBANK, Russia TJSCRUMM 301-11810700000000210

COMMERZBANK, Germany GBP COBADEFF 400 878 506 500

COMMERZBANK, Germany CHF COBADEFF 400 878 506 500

KOOKMIN BANK, Korea

KRW

CZNBKRSE 819-8-KRW-0-17

KEB HANA, Korea KOEXKRSE 0963FRW001000054

SHINHAN BANK, Korea SHBKKRSE 0102245KRW01

OCBC, Singapore SGD OCBCSGSG 713-470888-001

ANZ, Australia AUD ANZBAU3M 920660AUD00001

COMMERZBANK, Germany CAD COBADEFF 400 878 506 500

OCBC BANK, Singapore
HKD

OCBCSGSG 503-257156-201

BANK OF CHINA, Hongkong BKCHHKHH 012-875-60115674

mBANK, Poland PLN BREXPLPW IBAN: PL 52 114 000 000 000 114 
851 001 001
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Roundtable meetings

Being one of the systemically important banks, we actively participated in the Mongolia-Russia and 
Mongolia-China round table meetings held in Moscow and Shanghai, exchanging experiences on the 
banking operations.

International Cooperation

2019 Round Table meeting in Moscow, Russia 2019 Round Table meeting in Shanghai Beijing

Ganbold Galsan, President of Golomt Bank and Denis Ivanov, 
Chairman of IBEC

Trade Finance Agreement with IBEC

In June 14, 2019 we have established Trade 
Finance Cooperation Agreement with the 
International Bank for Economic Cooperation 
(IBEC) in Moscow, Russia.

Cooperation Agreement with 
BelAgroOromBank

We also established a “Cooperation Agreement” 
with BelAgroProm Bank of Belarus for further 
expanding our Trade finance business network.

International Partnerships for Clients

We have successfully organized the business meeting in Huhhot, China jointly with our partner, Bank of 
Inner Mongolia China, with the purpose to promote our two banks’ business clients who operate in the 
construction sector. During the meeting clients working in the same sector but from different countries 
had the opportunity to exchange their experiences.

Joined Japanese Business Council

In 2019 we joined the Japanese Business Council in Mongolia to promote and support our two countries 
business cooperation. 
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Joined the United Nation’s “Principles for Responsible Banking” Program

During the United Nation’s General Assembly of 2019, we have officially joined the “Principles for 
Responsible Banking”, launched by the United Nations Environment Program - Finance Initiative (UNEP 
– FI) to implement climate change and sustainable development activities.

We have become one of the core group members out of 28 leading banks from around the world, and 
as being elected as a representative bank from Asia Pacific region we have been working to appeal 
other regional banks to join this initiative. 

Sustainability and Impact Financing 

Mr.Norihiko Kato, CEO of Golomt Bank, at front row, 5th from left hand side

Currently, the United Nations 'Principles for Responsible Banking' have 130 member banks, comprising 
one third of  World’s banking sector, with a total assets of $ 47 trillion, to prevent a climate change and 
comply with the Sustainable Development Goals.

Agriculture and Rural Development Programs

We have been successfully cooperating with the Mongolian Development Bank's “Cashmere Program 
2019” and the Asian Development Bank's “Additional funding for the agricultural and rural development 
projects” program to support the Mongolian agricultural sector.

In cooperation with the Development Bank of Mongolia within the scope of “Cashmere Program 2019”, 
MNT 42 billion was issued to the cashmere sector. As a result of this program, 866 tonnes of cashmere 
were prepared, 1,205 positions were retained and 107 permanent job positions were created.
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By cooperating with ADB-funded Agriculture and Rural Development Project for the fourth year, we 
have issued USD 12 billion loans in 2019, becoming the leading bank implementing this program.

Introducing and promoting Micro SMEs to global lenders

In collaboration with the Netherlands Hands-On B.V Fund, and the Lendahand crowdfunding platform, 
we are implementing an electronic finance program to support small and medium-sized businesses, 
and enabling them to introduce their products and projects to the global impact financiers. Under this 
program, as of YE2019, MNT 4.5 billion were issued through the fund’s electronic platform to micro and 
small business entrepreneurs. 

Employment Promotion Program

We have successfully completed the “Job Increase Project” by the Employment Promotion Fund” 
in collaboration with the General Office of Welfare Services during 2017-2019 years.  Throughout the 
program period, we have successfully financed herders, individuals, entrepreneurs and entities and 
promoted manufacturing and service businesses. Under this program, we have issued MNT 20 billions to 
1,784 individuals and companies, retaining 4,406 job positions and creating 3,811 new job positions.

Organized an introductory forum on “Responsible Banking Principles”

Golomt Bank in partnership with Mongolian Sustainable Finance Association, organized an introductory 
forum on “Responsible Banking Principles” and introduced primary goals of the Principles and its 
implementation plans to the other banks and financial institutions, and encouraged them to support 
and promote Sustainable Development Goals. 
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Human

RESOURCES  

Initiated and 
implemented a variety of 

programs and activities 
to improve the skills of all 

employees, strengthen 
organizational 

culture, and improve 
employees social and 

health issues and 
increase participation 

of employees while 
providing opportunities 

for learning and 
development, and work 

and mentor students.
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• In 2019, we revised and improved our HR policies and regulations.
• In 2019, we have hired more than 200 new university graduates, signed cooperation agreements 

with National University of Mongolia - School of Business, University of Humanities and Mandakh 
University.

• In 2019, we implemented “Be Healthy” program and 1400 employees from Ulaanbaatar and local 
area were joined into this program by undertaking preventive health examination.  

• For 23rd year, we organized an annual snow festival and adventure sports walk comprising all 
employees.

• We organize reception events twice a year, on Mongolian Lunar New Year /Tsagaan sar/ and Veteran’s 
Day, for all senior employees who have retired from the bank.

• We have started to take a Technology Quotient test /TQ/ from each applicants to assess their ability 
to learn new technologies and use them effectively on daily basis.

Star Employee and Star Manager

With our tradition of actively supporting employees that are initiators and innovators, we have been 
holding an annual award ceremony for “STAR EMPLOYEE AND STAR MANAGER” since 2016. We award 
one employee and one manager whose contributions have immensely affected the success of the bank 
with extravagant prizes, encouraging those who venture beyond to achieve their goals and passion. 

This year we awarded one employee with brand new sedan “Renault Arkana” receiving the title of “STAR 
EMPLOYEE” and one manager was awarded an apartment, becoming the “STAR MANAGER”.

Human Resources



Our bank declares its strategic commitment 
to sustainable development, social well-being 

and climate change in line with the responsible 
banking principles.

Corporate Social 

RESPONSIBILITY 
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STUDENT SCHOLARSHIP PROGRAM FOR THE 15TH YEAR 

We organized Student Scholarship Program for the 15th year running.  This program is aimed to foster 
new talents and in 2019, we have awarded full-year scholarships for the best 8 students out of 24 
students enrolled in the “Research Student 2019” program, and selected the top 7 students for the 2020 
“Student Researcher Program”.

We, as the pioneer of the national scholarship program, select and award scholarships to the top 
100 students each year, and also provide opportunities to join the bank's research student team, 
attendresearch conferences, and eventually become a full-time employee of the bank. So far, total of 
1,300 students have been awarded scholarships worth over MNT 1 billion.

Corporate Social Responsibility 

GOLOMT INVESTOR CLUB 

We have also launched a 100-member Golomt 
Investor Club to bring together like minded 
employees of the bank who are interested in 
trading and investments. The purpose of this 
club is to regularly update its members about 
the state of the international economy and 
financial markets affairs, as well as to develop 
their fundamental and technical analysis skills on 
financial instruments.

CAREER INTRODUCTION PROGRAM 2.0

The purpose of the Career Introduction Program, which has been implemented since 2018, is to 
introduce the banking operation and business and promoting the banking profession to the high school 
graduates with the aim to train and hire them in the future. In 2018, 74 students from the top 7 schools, 
in 2019, 66 students from the top 6 schools participated in the program. 

‘FOR YOUR FINANCIAL EDUCATION’ RADIO PROGRAM 

In order to provide comprehensive economic and financial knowledge on how to meet personal and 
household financial needs, we work with Business Radio 98.9 in broadcasting a program called “For 
Your Financial Education”. The overall purpose is to improve the financial literacy and knowledge of the 
general public.

FRIENDLY FOOTBALL TOURNAMENT 

For the 10th year in a row, we have successfully hosted the traditional annual friendly football 
tournament among the Embassies, Diplomatic Missions in Mongolia and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs 
and the international organizations in Mongolia. The competition is an important event not only for the 
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bank, but also for expanding Mongolia's foreign relations and international cooperation. This time, 250 
athletes from 16 teams and more than 500 fans participated.

SUPPORTING FOLK AND CLASSICAL ART IN MONGOLIA 

For the 7th year in a row, we have been the official partner and general sponsor of the Morin Khuur 
Assemble of Mongolia, with the aim of promoting Mongolian traditional horse head fiddle folk art 
nationally and globally. We also provide annual support to the Mongolian State Academic Theater of  
Opera and Ballet to promote Mongolian classical art.
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SPONSORING THE FIRST PUBLIC LIBRARY FOR CHILDREN

We have sponsored the establishment of the first model of Public Library in 17th khoroo of Chingeltei 
District, Ulaanbaatar city, in collaboration with the “Promoting Children’s Education” NGO and the 
“Beyond Books” project team. With the launch of the library, children now have a safe and fun place 
to spend their times well and better self-development opportunity. About 5434 children in Chingeltei 
district can benefit from the library. 



Risk Management &

COMPLIANCE
As a result of the step-by-step measures to reduce the risk of 
centralization, large loans with high risk have been reduced 
and the optimal structure of corporate and retail loan 
portfolios has been established.



Risk Management

We fully acknowledge the importance of optimal risk and reward balance and are committed to 
applying risk awareness based approach at all levels of the bank, while safeguarding the interests of 
shareholders, depositors, customers, clients and other stakeholders. The board approves appropriate risk 
limits and policies while monitoring the implementation on a quarterly basis. The below principles are 
essential for implementation of the risk management system throughout the bank:
• Risk and Reward Ratio: Provides coordination between business strategy, risk management policy 

and risk appetite
• Risk Perception: Accurately define all financial and non-financial risks that could obstruct the Bank’s 

operation
• Forward-looking Risk Management: Prevent and mitigate potential risks
• Customer-Centric: Understand the needs and requirements of our clients for risk management
• Awards and Assessment System: Strengthen the risk management compliance of all units through 

an awards and assessment system

CREDIT RISK 

In order to meet the newly updated prudential ratios set by the regulator in our lending activities, we 
have enriched our credit risk assessment methods and developed new behavioral and preliminary 
scoring in 2019. The collateral evaluation template has been improved in accordance with the 
International Valuation Standards (IVS). As a result of the step-by-step measures to reduce the 
concentration risk, we reduced the large loans with high portfolio risk and the prudential structure of 
corporate and retail loan portfolios was created. We plan to further improve the implementation of the 
risk management system based on the recommendations of the Basel Committee.

Credit Risk Managing Methodology 

The Bank implements credit risk management at two levels: borrower and loan portfolio. We develop 
a risk managing methodology for each borrower and define and streamline the lending process on 
daily basis. In 2019, we have developed a methodology for evaluating corporate borrowers based on 
their database, a methodology for classifying SME (micro and small) borrowers, and application and 
behavioral scoring for retail borrowers. 

In addition, we are developing and testing Machine learning loan scoring, alternative loan scoring, and 
collection loan scoring based on modern advanced technology. Also, we further improved the model for 
estimating expected future losses (macroeconomic indicators, its forecast, transition matrix and credit 
stages were added).

MARKET RISK

In 2019, we successfully implemented a policy to maintain a highly liquid position in the short and long 
terms, as reflected in the bank's business plan. During the year, our liquidity was high enough to meet 
the requirements set by the regulator and our own risk appetites. In accordance with the standards set 
by the Basel Committee, we have consistently used the Liquidity Sufficiency Ratio (LCR) to manage and 
control short-term liquidity risks and the NSFR to manage and control medium to long-term liquidity 
risks.
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In order to further improve our liquidity risk management and protect against potential risks, we have 
developed and improved our internal policies, procedures, methodologies and contingency plans in 
accordance with the international standards.

OPERATIONAL RISK

During the reporting period, in order to sufficiently coordinate and monitor the branches and units risks 
- the “Risk monitoring self - assessment” method was used to define and reduce potential risks in daily 
operations. The branches were evaluated based on their performances on monitoring and managing 
their key risk indicators. 

We aimed to improve our management of external information technology risks in 2019. In this 
framework, risk monitoring and performance evaluation processes were improved in collaboration with 
Information technology department. Recommendation and direction was issued regularly to the on-
going projects to prevent and reduce potential risks.  

In addition, to prevent potential risks and increase the risk attitude and accountability of each employee, 
onsite and online trainings were organized regularly.

IT SECURITY  

Highlights for 2019

• We aim to establish a Global benchmark information security system (ISM) and have successfully 
implemented the internationally recognized information security standard ISO27001 and PCI-DSS 
Payment Card Security standard and received the certificate. 

• To ensure the implementation of the Personal Data Protection Law, we have met the requirements 
of the European Union Personal Data Protection Law and get certified by the GDPR. 

• The Bank’s external International Security Management audit was conducted on manpower, 
technology and process by Thales eSecurity, a leading international information security service 
provider.

• The “Fortinet Cyber Range 2019” cyber-attacks combating competition was organized successfully 
on March, 2019. The competition was co-organized by Fortinet and ITZone local software company, 
comprising information security professionals from Mongolia's top companies such as Oyu Tolgoi, 
Khan Bank, XacBank, Golomt Bank, Unitel, National Data Center, State Bank and Bogd Bank. Our 
bank’s Information security team won this competition and was invited to participate in the “Fortinet 
361 ° Security Forum 2019, taking place in Hong Kong”.



68 GOLOMT 
BANK

Compliance 

Our compliance department operates under the direct supervision of the CEO with a purpose to 
improve the control process of implementing our code of ethics, governance code and other standards 
and principles in line with applicable laws and regulations issued by domestic and international 
jurisdictions. Compliance department presents compliance policy implementation reports and provides 
reports to the Board of Directors on a quarterly basis.

HIGHLIGHTS FOR 2019

Our compliance procedures assessed by an international organization

In February 2019, the International Finance Corporation (IFC) conducted a pilot assessment for our 
Compliance procedure, including its AML/CFT internal operations using an assessment methodology 
developed in line with international standards. IFC was the first organization in the world to implement 
this brand new valuation methodology, and we were selected as one of the first banks to be evaluated. 
IFC evaluated our Compliance as “Advanced”, indicating that we are steps ahead to realize its strategy of 
becoming Mongolia’s global benchmark.

Golomt Bank Staff Ethics Forum 

We have been implementing the “Compliance 
Representatives Program” since 2016 within 
the framework of the Compliance Policy 
approved by the Board of Directors. In order to 
effectively implement the Bank's compliance, 
ethics and information security management 
and to prevent any potential ethical risks, the 
program was successfully expanded into “Ethics 
Representatives Program” and “Ethics forum” 
was organized. Under the program, a total 
of 140 employees were appointed as ethics 
representatives, and an Ethical Oath was taken 
to further exemplify compliance, ethics and 
information security in the bank.

Document processing standard reached the next level

In 2019, we successfully implemented a project to update the Bank's document processing standards 
and to ensure document compliance in accordance with international best practices. 



In 2019, the economy grew by 5.1 percent, 
the Banking Sector reform continued.

Operating

ENVIRONMENT
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Economy 

In 2019, Mongolia's economy grew by 5.1%. The economic growth was mainly driven by the trade, service 
and manufacturing sectors. In the mining sector, however, the decline of 1% was due to a decrease in 
composition in Oyu Tolgoi’s copper concentrate and a fall in commodity prices due to the US - China 
trade war. Despite the real sector growth, labor force in the labor market decreased by 3.8%, and 
unemployment rate increased to 8.1% from 6.6% in 2019.

Indicator Unit 2018 2019 2019/2018 Effect

Monetary policy

Inflation % 8.1% 5.2% -2.9 p.p. Positive

Money supply Trillion MNT 19.5 20.8 +6.8% Positive

Policy rate % 11% 11% - Neutral

Currency rate 
(MNT/USD) MNT 2637.3 2727.3 +3.4% Negative

Indicator Unit 2018 2019 2019/2018 Effect

Real sector

GDP (2010 
constant) Trillion MNT 18.1 19.0 +5.1% Positive

Unemployment 
rate % 6.6 8.1 +1.5 p.p. Negative

HIGHLIGHTS FOR 2019

• The Oyu Tolgoi underground project was delayed by 36 months and required an additional $ 1.9 
billion.

• Mongolia was included in the FATF list of countries with strategic deficiencies /gray listed/ by FATF in 
October 2019.

• The state budget was approved with a 2.1 trillion MNT deficit.

Monetary policy

The Central bank has implemented macroprudential policies rather than the traditional monetary 
measures. Although the policy interest rate was persistent with 11% through out the year, restrictions 
on consumer loans prevented from overheating. Due to the new restruiction on the the consumer loan 
tenor to 30 months the consumers loan  fell 8% year-on-year.

Fiscal Policy

Since 2016, fiscal revenue has been growing amid rising commodity prices and fiscal discipline has been 
relatively tightened under the IMF program. Specifically, for the last three years, the budget deficit in 
average was 700 billion MNT with a surplus of 3 billion in 2018. However, 2020 being an election year, the 
budget balance is set to reach $ 2.1 trillion in deficit.
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Indicator Unit 2018 2019 2019/2018 Effect

External sector

Export million USD 7,011.8 7,055.6 +8.7% Positive

Import million USD 5,875.0 6,127.4 +4.3% Positive

Trade balance million USD 1,137.0 1,429.3 +31.3% Positive

Balance of 
payment (2019.11) million USD -141.7 452.9 +420% Positive

Reserve (2019.11) million USD 3,549.1 4,348.6 +22.5% Positive

Indicator Unit 2018 2019 2019/2018 Effect

Fiscal policy

Government 
income billion MNT 9,225.9 10,801.6 +17.1 % Positive

Government 
spending billion MNT 9,222.9 11,429.4 +23.9% Negative

Budget balance billion MNT 3.0 -627.8 -209.3% Negative

External sector

Commodity prices, which were persistently rising since 2016, have been under decline due to the 
influence of the trade war. The main effects of uncertainty of the external sectors are on the balance 
of payment, and consequently alters the economy through foreign exchange rate. Although in 2019, 
balance of payment had excessed, factors such as the gray list inclusion and the delay of the OT 
underground mines funding led to the weakening of MNT against the US dollar.
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Incorporation decision Golomt Bank (the “Bank”) was incorporated as a wholly owned subsidiary of Bodi International LLC in accordance with 
the decision of shareholders of Bodi International LLC on 06 March 1995.

Certificate and License The Bank holds the State Registration Certificate No. 9016001014 with registration No.2075377 newly granted to the 
Bank by the State Registra-tion Office of Mongolia on 05 December 2005.

The Bank holds the Special License No. 25 for Banking Activities dated 06 March 1995 issued by the Bank of Mongolia.

Board of Governors Ch. Munkhtsetseg Chairwoman
Urs E. Schwarzenbach Member
D. Munkhtur Member
J. Unenbat Independent Member
López Abelló Independent Member
James B. Dwyer Independent Member

Executive Officers K. Norihiko Chief Executive Officer
G. Ganbold President
T. Nyamsuren Deputy CEO (Credit)
M. Sainbileg Chief Information Officer
M. Chimegmunkh Director of Financial Management Division
D. Badral Director of Corporate Banking Division
Ts. Baigalmaa Director of Retail and SME Banking Division
B. Bayartbileg Director of Credit Division
G. Uyanga Director of Human Resource Division
M. Narankhuu Director of Business Process Management
O. Battsengel Director of Information Technology Division
Yo. Purevbat Director of Operations Division
Kh. Purevdorj Director of Administration Division
J. Khishigjargal Director of Financial Institution and Investment Division

Registered office Head Office of Golomt bank
Sukhbaatar Square 5,
P.O.Box 22
Ulaanbaatar 15160, Mongolia

Auditors PwC Audit LLC
Central Tower, Floor 6, Suite 601
Sukhbaatar Square, SDB-8
Ulaanbaatar 14200, Mongolia

Corporate Information
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Golomt Bank LLC

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks Note 31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Assets
Cash and balances with central bank (other than mandatory reserve) 7 1,110,252,507 658,075,005
Mandatory cash balances with the Bank of Mongolia 8 291,911,405 455,072,892
Reverse sale and repurchase agreement 9 - 99,975,351
Due from other banks 10 906,564,709 586,137,792
Investments in debt securities 11 286,935,722 518,942,058
Investments in equity securities 12 82,697,234 105,693,688
Loans and advances to customers 13 3,306,694,312 3,183,723,744
Investment properties 14 42,387,502 34,293,822
Other assets 15 100,666,998 44,826,731
Deferred income tax assets 32 91,018 -
Derivative financial instruments 138,110,388 125,352,711
Intangible assets 16 14,370,011 14,250,326
Premises and equipment 17 147,748,830 130,090,247
Right of Use Assets 18 6,262,751 -
Repossessed collateral 19 151,317,600 89,901,317
Non-current assets classified as held for sale 20 57,125,324 34,777,089

Total assets 6,643,136,311 6,081,112,773

Liabilities
Due to other banks 21 52,928,512 148,766,727
Customer accounts 22 4,900,641,622 4,402,648,347
Other borrowed funds 23 916,032,162 715,852,783
REPO arrangements 24 24,876,114 151,343,018
Current income tax liability 32 1,444,404 4,950,542
Deferred income tax liability 32 - 5,306,666
Lease liabilities 18 6,524,901 -
Other liabilities 25 106,156,139 46,586,108
Subordinated debt 26 172,027,616 92,582,956

Total liabilities 6,180,631,470 5,568,037,147

Equity
Preferred shares 27 25,778,900 75,778,900
Share capital 27 32,014,498 32,321,857
Share premium 27 135,171,702 127,629,293
Retained earnings 197,396,268 202,842,670
Other reserves 72,143,473 74,502,906
 
Total equity 462,504,841 513,075,626
 
Total liabilities and equity 6,643,136,311 6,081,112,773

Summary Statement of Financial Position

M. CHIMEGMUNKH
Chief Financial Officer

K. NORIHIKO
Chief Executive Officer

CH. MUNKHTSETSEG
Chairwoman, Board of Governors 

Approved for issue and signed on behalf of the Bank’s management on 25th March 2020.

The notes set out on pages 6 to 129 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks Note 2019 2018
Interest income 28 556,957,598 463,853,291
Other similar income 28 20,934,133 30,107,637
Interest expense 28 (365,155,590) (323,255,156)
Other similar expense 28 (851,077) -

Net interest income 211,885,064 170,705,772
Credit loss allowance 13 (135,444,583) (66,150,713)

Net interest income after credit loss allowance 76,440,481 104,555,059
Fee and commission income 29 55,098,342 47,389,265
Fee and commission expense 29 (17,094,328) (12,323,356)
Gains less losses from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2,319,394 (6,339,847)
Losses less gains from financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (3,761) -
Gains less losses from financial derivatives 15,029,328 93,418,196
Gains less losses from trading in foreign currencies and precious metals 12,585,157 15,736,921

Losses less gains from modification of financial assets measured at amortised cost, that did not lead to de-
recognition (288,293) (1,293,892)

Reversal of expected credit loss allowance of debt securities at amortised cost 697,526 1,069,763

Reversal/(charge) of expected credit loss allowance of debt securities at fair value through other comprehensive 
income 990,237 (793,026)

Impairment of due from other banks (839,402) -
Losses on initial recognition of assets at rates below market 13 (5,348,937) (16,943,013)
Foreign exchange translation gains less losses 11,971,271 (19,049,921)
Provision charge for other assets 15 (2,689,233) (2,666,983)
Impairment charge for buildings - (26,600,000)
Gains less losses from non-current asset held for sale 1,792,301 1,920,631
Provision charge for repossessed collateral (9,559,169) (6,546,401)
Reversal of provision charge for guarantee and LC 1,461,464 393,454
Gains less losses on revaluation of investment properties 14 3,217,996 (3,023,845)
Dividend received 96,178 1,823,177
Other operating income and expenses 30 1,024,184 14,966,586
Administrative and other operating expenses 31 (122,005,830) (110,092,968)

Profit before tax 24,894,906 75,599,800

Income tax expense 32 (8,590,226) (22,053,560)

Profit for the year 16,304,680 53,546,240

Other comprehensive income/(loss):

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

Gains less losses on investments in equity securities at fair value through other comprehensive income (8,924,616) (10,222,176)

Revaluation of premises and equipment 1,242,104 3,000,000
Income tax recorded directly in other comprehensive income 2,231,155 2,555,544

Other comprehensive income (5,451,357) (4,666,632)

Total comprehensive income for the year 10,853,323 48,879,608

The notes set out on pages 6 to 129 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Golomt Bank LLC
Statement of Changes in Equity

Attributable to owners of the Bank

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks Note
Preferred 

shares
Share 

capital
Share 

premium

Revaluation 
reserve for 

AFS 
securities

Revaluation 
reserve for 

securities at
 FVTOCI

Revaluation 
reserve for 

premises
Other 

reserves
Retained 
earnings Total equity

Balance at 31 December 2017 25,778,900 26,367,593 46,583,557 40,331,226 - 3,961,909 30,132,163 218,533,691 391,689,039

Adoption of IFRS 9:

- re-measurement for expected credit 
losses, net of tax - - - - - - - (55,832,933) (55,832,933)

- reclassification and re-measurement of 
financial assets, net of tax - - - (40,331,226) (1,431,363) - - 41,762,589 -

Restated balance at 1 January 2018 25,778,900 26,367,593 46,583,557 - (1,431,363) 3,961,909 30,132,163 204,463,347 335,856,106

Profit for the year - - - - - - - 53,546,240 53,546,240

Other comprehensive income - - - - (7,666,632) 3,000,000 - - (4,666,632)

 

Total comprehensive income for 
2018 - - - - (7,666,632) 3,000,000 - 53,546,240 48,879,608

Share issue - 5,173,444 69,826,556 - - - - - 75,000,000

Issue of preferred shares 50,000,000 - - - - - - - 50,000,000

Conversion of the subordinated 
loans - 780,820 11,219,180 - - - - - 12,000,000

Dividends declared and paid - - - - - - - (8,660,088) (8,660,088)

Transfer of revaluation surplus on 
premises - - - - - (106,667) - 106,667 -

Transfer to regulatory reserve - - - - - - 46,613,496 (46,613,496) -

Balance at 31 December 2018 75,778,900 32,321,857 127,629,293 - (9,097,995) 6,855,242 76,745,659 202,842,670 513,075,626

Profit for the year 16,304,680 16,304,680

Other comprehensive income - - - - (6,693,461) 1,242,104 - - (5,451,357)

Total comprehensive income 
for 2019 - - - - (6,693,461) 1,242,104 - 16,304,680 10,853,323

Cancelation of shares 27 - (5,954,264) (81,045,736) - - - - - (87,000,000)

Cancelation of preferred shares 27 (50,000,000) - - - - - - - (50,000,000)

Conversion of the subordinated 
loans 27 - 5,646,905 88,588,145 - - - - - 94,235,050

Dividends declared - - - - - - - (9,009,657) (9,009,657)

Transfer of revaluation surplus on 
premises - - - - - (350,676) - 350,676 -

Transfer to regulatory reserve - - - - - - 3,442,600 (3,442,600) -

Other disbursement - - - - - - - (9,649,501) (9,649,501)

Balance at 31 December 2019 25,778,900 32,014,498 135,171,702 - (15,791,456) 7,746,670 80,188,259 197,396,268 462,504,841

The notes set out on pages 6 to 129 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Cashflow

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks Note 2019 2018
Cash flows from operating activities

Profit/(loss) before tax 24,894,906 75,599,800
Adjustments to:
Credit loss allowance 13 135,444,583 66,150,713
Gains less losses from financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 3,761 -
Gains less losses from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (2,319,394) 6,339,847
Gains less losses from financial derivatives (11,081,513) (93,418,196)

Gains less losses from modification of financial assets measured at amortised cost, that did not lead to 
derecognition 288,293 1,293,892

Impairment of Due from other banks 839,402 -
Impairment of debt securities at fair value through other comprehensive income (990,237) 793,026
Reversal of expected credit loss allowance of debt securities at amortised cost (697,526) (1,069,763)
Losses on initial recognition of assets at rates below market 5,348,937 16,943,013
Gain on disposal of properties 1,536,773 2,501,390
Foreign exchange (gains)/losses (11,971,271) 19,049,921
Provision for other assets 15 2,689,233 2,666,983
Impairment charge for buildings 17 - 26,600,000
Reversal of provision for credit related commitment (1,461,464) (393,454)
Gains less losses from investment properties 14 (3,217,996) 3,023,845
Gains less losses from non-current asset held for sale 20 (1,792,301) (1,920,631)
Depreciation expense 17 14,015,517 9,757,418
Amortisation expense 16 2,860,510 2,647,120
Property and equipment written off 17 45,682 18,591
Impairment provision for repossessed collateral 19 9,559,169 6,546,401
Non cash dividend received - (403,294)
Interest income 28 (577,891,731) (493,960,928)
Interest expense 28 366,006,667 323,255,156

Cash flows used in operating activities before changes in oper-ating assets and liabilities (47,890,000) (27,979,150)

(Increase) in mandatory cash balances with the Bank of Mongolia 163,161,487 (60,043,603)
(Increase) in due from other banks (305,824,959) (107,077,239)
Decrease in debt securities at fair value true profit or loss 114,709,744 174,529,874
Decrease in equity securities at fair value true profit or loss 9,794,053 18,184,576
(Increase) in loans and advances (650,176,728) (1,200,251,752)
(Increase) in other assets (64,213,447) 755,462
(Increase)/decrease in repossessed collateral (9,559,169) 1,417,442
(Increase)/decrease in non-current assets classified as held for sale (20,555,934) 12,111,094
(Increase) / decrease in investment properties (4,875,684) -
(Decrease)/increase in due to other banks (95,838,215) (239,425,506)
Increase in customer account 495,714,366 935,753,814
(Decrease)/increase in to other liabilities 61,031,495 (9,053,792)

Net cash used in operating activities before tax and interest (354,522,991) (501,078,780)

Tax paid (15,262,893) (6,035,111)
Interest received 525,560,117 475,288,525
Interest income received on investment at fair value through profit or loss 205,299 -
Interest paid (339,927,112) (323,629,516)

Net cash provided used in operating activities (183,947,580) (355,454,882)

The notes set out on pages 6 to 129 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Golomt Bank LLC

Refer to Notes 3 and 10 for information on the MIK-SPC transactions that did not require the use of cash and cash equivalents and were excluded from the 
Statement of Cash Flows.

Non cash transfers from Loans and advances to Repossessed collaterals, from Repossessed collat-erals to Non-current asset held for sale and investment properties 
were excluded from the Statement of Cash Flows. 

Statement of Cashflow

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks Note 2019 2018

Acquisition of debt securities at fair value through other comprehensive income (4,020,651,932) (11,354,599,126)
Acquisition of equity securities at fair value through other comprehensive income (9,012,274) (75,173,189)
Proceeds from disposal of debt securities at fair value through other comprehensive income 4,260,523,837 11,534,438,662
Proceeds from disposal of equity securities at fair value through other comprehensive income 87,659 46,317
Acquisition of investment in debt securities carried at amortised cost 409,233 (3,389,776)
Proceeds from redemption of debt securities carried at amortised cost 34,161,381 21,480,911
Proceeds from disposal or subsidiary, net of disposed cash - 519,886
Acquisition of premises and equipment 17 (31,325,390) (15,144,634)
Proceeds from disposal of premises and equipment 17 847,712 6,664,120
Acquisition of intangible asset 16 (2,980,195) (3,217,588)

Net cash provided from investing activities 232,060,031 111,625,583

Cash flows from financing activities
Issue of ordinary shares 27 (45,000,000) 75,000,000
Issue of preference shares 27 - 50,000,000
Proceeds from repo arrangements 3,439,794,977 2,065,957,687
Repayment of repo arrangements (3,571,210,255) (1,967,941,450)
Proceeds from drawdown of other borrowed funds 23 395,226,792 527,864,616
Repayment of other borrowed funds 23 (89,115,105) (453,252,951)
Repayment of principal of lease liabilities (4,747,112) -
Proceeds from subordinated loans 26 80,000,000 -
Repayment of subordinated loans 26 1,732,849 (12,508)
Dividends paid (9,009,657) (5,178,170)
Other disbursements (9,649,500) -

Net cash provided from financing activities 188,022,989 292,437,224
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 47,056,670 (6,732,489)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalent 283,192,110 41,875,436
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 1,182,187,945 1,140,312,509

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 7 1,465,380,055 1,182,187,945

The notes set out on pages 6 to 129 form an integral part of these financial statements.



83

8 Mandatory reserves with the Bank of Mongolia

Cash and balances with central bank (other than mandatory reserve) are not collateralised. Credit quality of current account with the Bank of Mongolia based on 
credit risk grade is “satisfactory” and had a B3 rating from Moody’s as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018.

Cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the cash flow statement are presented below:

For the purpose of ECL measurement, cash and cash equivalents balances are included in Stage 1 as of 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018. The ECL for these 
balances represents an insignificant amount, therefore the Bank did not recognise any credit loss allowance for cash and cash equivalents. 

Notes to the Financial Statement – 31 December 2019

7 Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and balances with central bank (other than mandatory reserve)

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Mandatory cash balances with the Bank of Mongolia 291,911,405 455,072,892

Mandatory cash balances with the Bank of Mongolia 291,911,405 455,072,892

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Cash on hand 104,767,167 114,855,783
Current account with the Bank of Mongolia (other than mandatory reserve) 1,005,485,340 543,219,222

Cash and cash balances with central bank 1,110,252,507 658,075,005

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Cash and balances with the central banks (Note 7) 1,110,252,507 658,075,005
Treasury bills of the Bank of Mongolia with original maturities of less than three months (Note 11) 168,951,043 251,423,656
Due from banks (Note 10) 186,176,505 172,713,933
Reverse repurchase agreement (Note 9) - 99,975,351

Total cash and cash equivalents 1,465,380,055 1,182,187,945

Current accounts with the Bank of Mongolia are maintained in accordance with the regulations of the Bank of Mongolia. The mandatory cash balances maintained 
with the Bank of Mongolia are determined at not less than 12.0% (2018: 12.0%) of customer deposits for a period of 2 weeks. According to the Bank of Mongolia 
resolution dated 29 March 2018, the Bank maintains 50% of the mandatory reserve balance as at the reporting date.

Credit quality of current account with the Bank of Mongolia based on credit risk grade as at 31 December 2019 is “satisfactory” and neither past due nor impaired 
as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018. For the purpose of ECL measurement, mandatory cash balances are included in Stage 1 as of 31 December 2019 
and 31 December 2018. 

The ECL for these balances represents an insignificant amount; therefore, the Bank did not recognise any credit loss allowance. 
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In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
31 December 2018

Stage 1 (12-months ECL)

- Special monitoring 99,975,351
Gross carrying amount 99,975,351
Less: Credit loss allowance -
Carrying amount 99,975,351

10 Due from Other Banks

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Correspondent accounts with other banks
    Foreign 175,105,319 153,173,299
    Domestic 10,776,841 19,540,634
Short-term placements with other banks
    Domestic - -
    Foreign 294,345 -
Placements with other banks with original maturities of more than three months 720,388,204 413,423,859

Total due from other banks 906,564,709 586,137,792

Placements with other banks with original maturities of more than three months as at 31 December 2019 include current accounts with maturities ranging from 
180 days to 2 years. The significant increase as at 31 December 2019 relates to a new borrowing from a foreign financial institution in the amount of USD 100,000 
thousands that is placed for the purpose of collateral (refer to Note 23).

The following table contains an analysis of due from other banks balances by credit quality at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 based on credit risk 
grades and discloses due from other banks balances by three stages for the purpose of ECL measurement.

The ECL for these balances represents an insignificant amount, therefore the Bank did not recognise any credit loss allowance for correspondent accounts and 
placements with other banks as at 31 December 2018.

Notes to the Financial Statement – 31 December 2019

9 Reverse repurchase agreements

As of 31 December 2019, the Bank has no reverse repurchase agreement. However, as of 31 December 2018, the reverse repurchase agreement relates to a short-
term agreement with local bank, earning interest rate 9% p.a. with original maturity 3 days. The reverse sale and repurchase agreement is fully collateralized by 
the Bank of Mongolia treasury bills, which the Bank has the right, by contract to sell or re-pledge in the case of non-repayment.

The ECL for reverse repurchase agreements represent an insignificant amount, therefore the Bank did not recognise any credit loss allowance for these balances. 

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
31 December 2019

Stage 1 (12-months ECL)
31 December 2018

Stage 1 (12-months ECL)
- Excellent 713,235,351 142,996,216
- Good 106,050,640 5,748,221
- Satisfactory 77,443,459 159,395,049
- Special monitoring 10,674,661 277,998,306

Gross carrying amount 907,404,111 586,137,792

Less: Credit loss allowance (839,402) -

Carrying amount 906,564,709 586,137,792
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In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Debt securities at FVTOCI 169,387,815 365,684,251
Debt securities mandatorily measured at FVTPL 106,342,392 119,425,772
Debt securities at AC 11,315,389 34,672,201

Less: Credit loss allowance (109,874) (840,166)

Total investments in debt securities 286,935,722 518,942,058

The table below discloses investments in debt securities at 31 December 2019 by measurement categories and classes:

The table below discloses investments in debt securities at 31 December 2018 by measurement categories and classes:

11 Investments in Debt Securities

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
Debt securities at 

FVTOCI

Debt securities 
mandatorily 
measured at 

FVTPL
Debt securities 

at AC Total

Treasury bills of the Bank of Mongolia (a) 168,832,512 - - 168,832,512
MIK bonds (b) - 106,342,392 - 106,342,392
Corporate bonds - - - -
Government bonds (c) 555,303 - 11,315,389 11,870,692

Total investments in debt securities at 31 December 2019 (fair value or 
gross carrying value) 169,387,815 106,342,392 11,315,389 287,045,596

Less: Credit loss allowance - - (109,874) (109,874)

Total investments in debt securities at 31 December 2019 (carrying 
value) 169,387,815 106,342,392 11,205,515 286,935,722

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
Debt securities at 

FVTOCI

Debt securities 
mandatorily 
measured at 

FVTPL
Debt securities 

at AC Total

Treasury bills of the Bank of Mongolia (a) 365,146,307 - - 365,146,307
MIK bonds (b) - 111,962,492 - 111,962,492
Corporate bonds - - 23,385,734 23,385,734
Government bonds (c) 537,944 7,463,280 11,286,467 19,292,721

Total investments in debt securities at 31 December 2018 (fair value or 
gross carrying value) 365,684,251 119,425,772 34,672,201 519,782,224

Less: Credit loss allowance - - (840,166) (840,166)

Total investments in debt securities at 31 December 2018 (carrying 
value) 365,684,251 119,425,772 33,832,035 518,942,058
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11 Investments in Debt Securities (continued)

(a) Treasury bills of the Bank of Mongolia

Treasury bills of the Bank of Mongolia at FVTOCI represents investment securities held for satisfying the liquidity and business model in a "held to collect and sell".

(b) MIK bonds

The MIK bonds represent the bonds secured by the mortgage loans provided by the Bank to the customers. The MIK bonds are classified as the same category of 
contractually linked instrument (mortgage loans) at FVTPL. The Bank had an intention to sell the mortgage loans from the initial recognition.

The Junior RMBS will only be redeemed after the full redemption of the principal of the Senior RMBS and the payments to Junior RMBS holders are subordinate in 
right of payment and priority to the Senior RMBS. Any shortfall in the net assets of MIK-HFC would be borne by the Senior and Junior RMBS holders (proportionally 
in accordance with their seniority in the right of payment and priority).

(c) Government bonds

Debt securities classified at FVTOCI represents investment securities held for satisfying the liquidity and business model in a "held to collect and sell".
Debt securities classified at AC represents investment securities held for satisfying the liquidity and business model in a "held to collect”.

Debt securities mandatorily classified as at FVTPL by the Bank represent securities held for trading and securities in a ‘held to sell’ business model as the Bank had 
an intention to realise a trading gain. On initial recognition, the Bank has designated government bonds at FVTPL. The government bonds at FVTPL are carried at 
fair value, which also reflects any credit risk related write-downs and best represents Bank’s maximum exposure to credit risk, and are not collateralised.

Investments in debt securities at FVTOCI

The following table discloses Treasury bills of the Bank of Mongolia measured at FVTOCI:

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
31 December 2019

Stage 1 (12-months ECL)
31 December 2018

Stage 1 (12-months ECL)

Treasury bills of the Bank of Mongolia
- Satisfactory 168,951,043 366,256,329

Less: Fair value decrease (118,531) (1,110,022)

Carrying value (fair value) 168,832,512 365,146,307

Treasury bills of the Bank of Mongolia with original maturities of less than three months are MNT 168,951,043 thousands as at 31 December 2019 (2018: MNT 
251,423,656 thousands) and included in cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the cash flow statement (Note 7).

The following table discloses Government bonds measured at FVTOCI:
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In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks

Credit loss allowance
Stage 1

(12-months ECL)

Carrying value
Stage 1

(12-months ECL)

Treasury bills of the Bank of Mongolia at FVTOCI
At 1 January 2019 1,110,022 366,256,329
Movements with impact on credit loss allowance charge for the period:
New originated or purchased 118,531 4,055,601,043
Derecognised during the period (1,110,022) (4,252,906,329)

At 31 December 2019 118,531 168,951,043

Government bonds at FVTOCI
At 1 January 2019 5,029 542,973
Movements with impact on credit loss allowance charge for the period:
New originated or purchased 1,254 -

Total gross carrying value 6,283 542,973

Movements without impact on credit loss allowance charge for the period:
FX and other movements - 18,613

At 31 December 2019 6,283 561,586

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
31 December 2019

Stage 1 (12-months ECL)
31 December 2018

Stage 1 (12-months ECL)

Government bonds
- Satisfactory 561,586 542,973

Less: Fair value decrease (6,283) (5,029)

Carrying value (fair value) 555,303 537,944

The following table discloses the changes in the credit loss allowance and gross carrying amount debt securities carried at fair value through other comprehensive 
income between the beginning and the end of the reporting period:
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11 Investments in Debt Securities (continued)

The following table discloses the changes in the credit loss allowance and gross carrying amount debt securities carried at fair value through other comprehensive 
income between the beginning and the end of the reporting period:

Investments in debt securities at AC

The following table discloses investments in debt securities measured at AC:

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks

Credit loss allowance
Stage 1

(12-months ECL)

Carrying value
Stage 1

(12-months ECL)

Treasury bills of the Bank of Mongolia at FVTOCI
At 1 January 2018 283,643 632,003,148
Movements with impact on credit loss allowance charge for the period:
New originated or purchased 1,110,023 11,239,722,329
Derecognised during the period (283,644) (11,505,469,148)

At 31 December 2018 1,110,022 366,256,329

Government bonds at FVTOCI
At 1 January 2018 38,382 29,467,287
Movements with impact on credit loss allowance charge for the period:
Derecognised during the period (33,353) (28,968,439)

Total gross carrying value 5,029 498,848

Movements without impact on credit loss allowance charge for the period:
FX and other movements - 44,125

At 31 December 2018 5,029 542,973

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
31 December 2019

Stage 1 (12-months ECL)
31 December 2018

Stage 1 (12-months ECL)

Government bonds
- Satisfactory 11,315,389 11,286,467
Less: Credit loss allowance (109,874) (102,223)

Carrying value (fair value) 11,205,515 11,184,244

Corporate bonds
- Satisfactory - 23,385,734
Less: Credit loss allowance - (737,943)

Carrying value (fair value) - 22,647,791

Total investments in debt securities measured at AC (gross carrying amount) 11,315,389 34,672,201

Less: Credit loss allowance (109,874) (840,166)

Total investments in debt securities measured at AC (carrying amount) 11,205,515 33,832,035
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The following table discloses the changes in the credit loss allowance for investments in debt securities carried at amortised cost between the beginning and the 
end of the reporting period:

The following table discloses the changes in the credit loss allowance for investments in debt securities carried at amortised cost between the beginning and the 
end of the reporting period:

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
Credit loss allowance

Stage 1(12-months ECL)
Gross carrying amount

Stage 1(12-months ECL)

Government bonds at AC
At 1 January 2019 102,223 11,286,467
Movements with impact on credit loss allowance charge for the period:
Changes to ECL measurement model assumptions 7,651 -
Changes in accrued interest - 28,922

Total movements with impact on credit loss allowance charge for the period 109,874 11,315,389

Corporate bonds at AC
At 1 January 2019 737,943 23,385,734
Movements with impact on credit loss allowance charge for the period:
Derecognised during the period (705,177) (21,781,922)
Changes in accrued interest (32,766) (1,603,812)
Other movements - -

Total movements with impact on credit loss allowance charge for the period - -

Total movements with impact on as at 31 December 2019 109,874 11,315,389

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
Credit loss allowance

Stage 1(12-months ECL)
Gross carrying amount

Stage 1(12-months ECL)

Government bonds at AC
At 1 January 2018 449,616 11,260,142
Movements with impact on credit loss allowance charge for the period:
Changes to ECL measurement model assumptions (347,393) -
Changes in accrued interest - 26,325

Total movements with impact on credit loss allowance charge for the period 102,223 11,286,467

Corporate bonds at AC
At 1 January 2018 1,460,313 41,727,323
Movements with impact on credit loss allowance charge for the period:
Derecognised during the period (734,846) (20,832,945)
Changes in accrued interest - 2,491,356
New originated or purchased 12,476 -

Total movements with impact on credit loss allowance charge for the period 737,943 23,385,734

Total movements with impact on as at 31 December 2018 840,166 34,672,201
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12 Investments in Equity Securities

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
Equity securities 

at FVTPL
Equity securities 

at FVTOCI Total

Investments in investment funds - 58,000,000 58,000,000
Corporate shares 17,719,353 6,977,881 24,697,234

Total investments in equity securities at 31 December 2019 17,719,353 64,977,881 82,697,234

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
Equity securities 

at FVTPL
Equity securities 

at FVTOCI Total

Investments in investment funds - 58,000,000 58,000,000
Corporate shares 32,894,926 14,798,762 47,693,688

Total investments in equity securities at 31 December 2018 32,894,926 72,798,762 105,693,688

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Equity securities at FVTOCI 64,977,881 72,798,762
Equity securities at FVTPL 17,719,353 32,894,926

Total investments in equity securities 82,697,234 105,693,688

The table below discloses investments in equity securities at 31 December 2019 by measurement categories and classes:

The table below discloses investments in equity securities at 31 December 2018 by measurement cate-gories and classes:

(a) Investments in equity securities at FVTPL

Corporate shares at FVTPL represent securities held for trading and other quoted equity securities for which FVTOCI election was not made on initial recognition.
Corporate shares mainly consist from quoted shares of Mongolian Mortgage Corporation and of APU JSC, both listed on Mongolian Stock Exchange, with fair value 
of MNT 15,355,485 thousands and MNT 1,333,341 thousands as of 31 December 2019 (2018: MNT 15,099,560 thousands and MNT 16,440,728 thousands). The 
Bank sold the significant shares of APU JSC during 2019.

(b) Investments in equity securities at FVTOCI

As of 31 December 2019, the Bank has invested in MNT 64,977,881 thousands of equity securities at FVTOCI. The FVTOCI designation was made because the 
investments are expected to be held for strategic purposes rather than with a view to profit on a subsequent sale, and there are no plans to dispose of these 
investments in the short or medium term. The decrease of the equity securities at FVTOCI solely relates to fair value changes. 

In 2013, the Government of Mongolia passed the law for investment funds to be formed. The first in-vestment fund was subsequently established (the “Fund”). 
The Fund is managed by managing company domiciled in Mongolia, which is not related to the Bank’s owners or management, and its main activity is making 
investments with funds of its customers.



91

As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, the Bank owned 9.6% of investment units of the Fund, which invested its funds in real estate properties in early 
2015. The total investment amounts to MNT 58,000 thousands and management believes that it is fully recoverable as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 
2018, given the assessment of the value of purchased properties done by third party i.e. independent qualified appraisers and the assessment of the Bank’s 
internal specialists.

Management has assessed that it does not have either control or significant influence on the operating and financial decisions and activities of the Fund, and 
therefore this investment is classified as investment in equity securities at FVTOCI in accordance with IFRS 9 requirements.The Fund has operated since the special 
license was issued by the Financial Regulatory Commission in October 2015.

13 Loans and Advances to Customers

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Gross carrying amount of loans and advances to customers at AC 3,293,326,300 3,230,167,595
Less: Credit loss allowance (121,193,516) (172,900,278)

Total carrying amount of loans and advances to customers at AC 3,172,132,784 3,057,267,317

Loans and advances to customers at FVTPL / Mortgage/ 110,816,093 126,456,427
Loans and advances to customers at FVTPL / Corporate/ 23,745,435 -

Total loans and advances to customers 3,306,694,312 3,183,723,744

The bank holds a MIK mortgage portfolio of loans and advances to customers that does not meet the SPPI requirement for AC classification under IFRS 9. As a 
result, these loans and advances were classified as at FVTPL from the date of initial recognition. The corporate loan classified at FVTPL is a modified instrument 
that had been previously classified as a derivative financial instrument.

Loans and advances to customers at FVTPL are measured taking into account the credit risk. The carrying amount presented in the statement of financial position 
best represents the Bank’s maximum exposure to credit risk arising from loans and advances to customers.

Gross carrying amount and credit loss allowance amount for loans and advances to customers at AC by classes at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 are 
disclosed in the table below:

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Gross carrying 
amount

Credit loss 
allowance

Carrying 
amount

Gross carrying 
amount

Credit loss 
allowance

Carrying 
amount

Loans to corporate customers

Loans to Corporate 1,412,247,654 (42,888,585) 1,369,359,069 1,418,123,857 (76,760,488) 1,341,363,369
Loans to SME 703,654,824 (20,064,585) 683,590,239 674,851,230 (56,298,148) 618,553,082

Loans to individuals

Consumer loans 887,861,057 (55,036,115) 832,824,942 893,570,466 (36,446,032) 857,124,434
Mortgage loans 289,562,765 (3,204,231) 286,358,534 243,622,042 (3,395,610) 240,226,432

Total loans and advances to customers at AC 3,293,326,300 (121,193,516) 3,172,132,784 3,230,167,595 (172,900,278) 3,057,267,317
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In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks

Credit loss allowances Gross carrying amount

Stage 1 
(12-months 

ECL)

Stage 2 
(lifetime ECL for 

SICR)

Stage 3 
(lifetime ECL 
for credit im-

paired) Total

Stage 1 
(12-months 

ECL)

Stage 2 
(lifetime ECL for 

SICR)

Stage 3 
(lifetime ECL for 
credit impaired) Total

Corporate
At 1 January 2019 21,500,948 8,807,707 46,451,833 76,760,488 1,011,649,610 55,820,064 350,654,183 1,418,123,857

Movements with impact on credit loss allowance charge for the period:
Transfers:

- to lifetime (from Stage 1 to 
Stage 2) - - - - (23,081,929) 23,081,929 - -

- to credit-impaired (from stage 1 
and Stage 2 to Stage 3) - (14,071) 14,071 - - (737,627) 737,627 -

- from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - - - - - 26,000,776 (26,000,776) -

New originated or purchased 3,088,243 318,777 16,677,535 20,084,555 521,335,313 166,885,197 114,757,365 802,977,875

Derecognised during the period (8,845,814) (587,475) (1,260,406) (10,693,695) (424,470,206) (20,358,465) (109,476,030) (554,304,701)

Changes to ECL measurement 
model assumptions (6,147,874) 1,936,586 16,389,165 12,177,877 (230,836,898) 104,846,594 92,167,048 (33,823,256)

Unwinding of discount 660,046 - 832,620 1,492,666 - - - -

Changes in accrued interest (2,369) - 5,500 3,131 1,473,239 - (2,718,059) (1,244,820)

Credit loss allowance - 25,513,022 69,927,094 95,440,116 - 1,004,789 7,838,699 8,843,488

Other movements (5,213,046) 8,037 2,780,425 (2,424,584) (12,703,131) 2,080,662 (43,445,597) (54,068,066)

Total movements with 
impact on credit loss allow-
ance charge for the period

5,040,134 35,982,583 151,817,837 192,840,554 843,366,998 358,623,919 384,514,460 1,586,504,377

Movements without impact on credit loss allowance charge for the period:
Write-offs - (33,719,182) (115,675,648) (149,394,830) - (34,723,971) (123,514,347) (158,238,318)

FX and other movements (186,886) (1,643) (368,610) (557,139) (4,613,414) (2,535,576) (8,869,415) (16,018,405)

At 31 December 2019 4,853,248 2,261,758 35,773,579 42,888,585 838,752,584 321,364,372 252,130,698 1,412,247,654

Notes to the Financial Statements – 31 December 2019

13 Loans and Advances to Customers (continued)

More detailed explanation of classes of loans to legal entities is provided below:
• Loans to Corporate customers – loans issued to large commercial entities under standard terms;
• Loans to SME – loans issued to small and medium-sized enterprises;
• Consumer loans;
• Mortgage loans.
During 2019, a loss on initial recognition of loans at rates below market in the amount of MNT 5,348,937 thousand (2018: MNT 16,943,013 thousand) has been 
recorded in profit or loss for the year. 

The following table discloses the changes in the credit loss allowance and gross carrying amount for loans and advances to customers carried at amortised cost 
between the beginning and the end of the reporting period:
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In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks

Credit loss allowances Gross carrying amount

Stage 1 
(12-months 

ECL)

Stage 2 
(lifetime ECL for 

SICR)

Stage 3 
(lifetime ECL 
for credit im-

paired) Total

Stage 1 
(12-months 

ECL)

Stage 2 
(lifetime ECL for 

SICR)

Stage 3 
(lifetime ECL for 
credit impaired) Total

SME
At 1 January 2019 4,053,895 280,435 51,963,818 56,298,148 510,808,326 12,980,965 151,061,939 674,851,230
Movements with impact on credit loss allowance charge for the period:
Transfers:

- to lifetime (from Stage 1 to 
Stage 2) (93,683) 93,683 - - (12,581,081) 12,581,081 - -

- to credit-impaired (from Stage 1 
and Stage 2 to Stage 3) (170,692) (14,071) 184,763 - (15,116,673) (9,517,195) 24,633,868 -

- to 12-months ECL (from Stage 2 
and Stage 3 to Stage 1) 200,856 (57) (200,799) - 614,772 (102,455) (512,317) -

- from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 7,790 (7,790) - - 25,646 (25,646) -
New originated or purchased 1,935,074 622,249 1,182,258 3,739,581 375,659,580 28,421,557 30,296,242 434,377,379
Derecognised during the period (1,616,769) (46,792) (11,114,123) (12,777,684) (258,864,770) (3,337,550) (40,604,986) (302,807,306)

Changes to ECL measurement 
model assumptions (1,182,433) 61,580 (589,522) (1,710,375) (65,282,217) 2,624,720 43,686,181 (18,971,816)

Unwinding of discount 247,703 648 2,585,206 2,833,557 - - - -
Changes in accrued interest (6,865) (110) 128,300 121,325 (284,944) (935) 5,291,155 5,005,276
Credit loss allowance - - 5,063,907 5,063,907 - - 10,926,010 10,926,010
Other movements (805,560) (185,985) (8,355,648) (9,347,193) (42,537,939) (46,924) (17,020,771) (59,605,634)

Total movements with 
impact on credit loss allow-
ance charge for the period

2,360,670 779,191 40,948,067 44,087,928 492,414,554 43,628,910 207,731,675 743,775,139

Movements without impact on credit loss allowance charge for the period:
Write-offs - - (23,541,192) (23,541,192) - - (34,467,202) (34,467,202)
FX and other movements (20,323) (347) (461,481) (482,151) (396,220) (26,489) (5,230,404) (5,653,113)

At 31 December 2019 2,340,347 778,844 16,945,394 20,064,585 492,018,334 43,602,421 168,034,069 703,654,824

During 2019, a loss on initial recognition of loans at rates below market in the amount of MNT 5,348,937 thousands has been recorded in profit or loss for the year. 
It is included in the new originated or purchased loans in above table.  
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13 Loans and Advances to Customers (continued)

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks

Credit loss allowances Gross carrying amount

Stage 1 
(12-months 

ECL)

Stage 2 
(lifetime ECL for 

SICR)

Stage 3 
(lifetime ECL 
for credit im-

paired) Total

Stage 1 
(12-months 

ECL)

Stage 2 
(lifetime ECL for 

SICR)

Stage 3 
(lifetime ECL for 
credit impaired) Total

Consumer
At 1 January 2019 8,751,589 2,034,879 25,659,564 36,446,032 833,435,959 11,945,356 48,189,151 893,570,466
Movements with impact on credit loss allowance charge for the period:
Transfers:

- to lifetime (from Stage 1 to 
Stage 2) (636,248) 636,248 - - (26,735,083) 26,735,083 - -

- to credit-impaired (from Stage 1 
and Stage 2 to Stage 3) (914,144) (918,332) 1,832,476 - (22,744,138) (5,020,437) 27,764,575 -

- to 12-months ECL (from   Stage 
2 and Stage 3 to Stage 1) 435,634 (299,481) (136,153) - 2,087,204 (1,867,264) (219,940) -

- from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 11,526 (11,526) - - 18,832 (18,832) -
New originated or purchased 1,930,878 686,015 1,427,199 4,044,092 326,148,211 6,027,333 1,764,176 333,939,720
Derecognised during the period (721,129) (132,507) (2,338,702) (3,192,338) (208,331,753) (1,173,868) (18,790,680) (228,296,301)

Changes to ECL measurement 
model assumptions (415,706) 3,656,148 16,006,673 19,247,115 (565,724) (4,590,347) (4,698,166) (9,854,237)

Unwinding of discount 1,029,950 28,488 2,125,892 3,184,330 - - - -
Changes in accrued interest (2,178) (462) 1,627,750 1,625,110 (1,758,030) (812) 1,404,396 (354,446)
Credit loss allowance 207,022 - 6,952,292 7,159,314 31,302 2,076 1,037,749 1,071,127
Other movements (1,403,026) 94,467 1,006,906 (301,653) (93,979,326) (483,063) 6,777,658 (87,684,731)

Total movements with 
impact on credit loss allow-
ance charge for the period

8,262,642 5,796,989 54,152,371 68,212,002 807,588,622 31,592,889 63,210,087 902,391,598

Movements without impact on credit loss allowance charge for the period:
Write-offs (212,331) (43,355) (12,687,481) (12,943,167) (243,633) (45,431) (13,725,230) (14,014,294)
FX and other movements (7,698) (6,924) (218,098) (232,720) (365,001) (338) (150,908) (516,247)

At 31 December 2019 8,042,613 5,746,710 41,246,792 55,036,115 806,979,988 31,547,120 49,333,949 887,861,057
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In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks

Credit loss allowances Gross carrying amount

Stage 1 
(12-months 

ECL)

Stage 2 
(lifetime ECL for 

SICR)

Stage 3 
(lifetime ECL 
for credit im-

paired) Total

Stage 1 
(12-months 

ECL)

Stage 2 
(lifetime ECL for 

SICR)

Stage 3 
(lifetime ECL for 
credit impaired) Total

Mortgage
At 1 January 2019 350,927 120,955 2,923,728 3,395,610 225,292,664 2,651,487 15,677,891 243,622,042
Movements with impact on credit loss allowance charge for the period:
Transfers:

- to lifetime (from Stage 1 to 
Stage 2) (28,074) 28,074 - - (5,079,126) 5,079,126 - -

- to credit-impaired (from Stage 1 
and Stage 2 to Stage 3) (11,941) (105,221) 117,162 - (5,957,589) (1,758,769) 7,716.358 -

- to 12-months ECL (from   Stage 
2 and Stage 3 to Stage 1) 19,008 (6,830) (12,178) - 1,290,809 (734,743) (556,066) -

- from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - - - - - - - -
New originated or purchased 233,788 138,042 5,322 377,152 126,152,396 2,490,337 264,608 128,907,341
Derecognised during the period (69,418) (1,603) (178,136) (249,157) (40,891,497) (333,526) (3,894,808) (45,119,831)

Changes to ECL measurement 
model assumptions - - - - - - -

Unwinding of discount 28,920 1,330 358,890 389,140 - - - -
Changes in accrued interest (466) 739 32,847 33,120 (879) 2,153 308,035 309,309
Credit loss allowance (16,978) (655) 13,521 (4,112) (1,727,940) 105,255 297,594 (1,325,091)
Other movements (130,226) 36,014 (1,209,847) (1,304,059) (40,675,694) (573,807) 5,271,109 (35,978,392)

Total movements with 
impact on credit loss 
allowance charge for the 
period

357,142 237,424 2,609,813 3,204,379 258,225,441 6,633,629 24,703,695 289,562,765

Movements without impact on credit loss allowance charge for the period:
FX and other movements (148) - - (148) - - - -

At 31 December 2019 356,994 237,424 2,609,813 3,204,231 258,225,441 6,633,629 24,703,695 289,562,765

Movements in the expected credit loss allowance for loans to legal entities and individuals during 2019 of are as follows:

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
Loans to 

Corporate Loans to SME Consumer loans Mortgage loans Total

Expected credit loss allowance at 1 January 2019 76,760,488 56,298,148 36,446,032 3,395,610 172,900,278
Credit loss allowance charge/(recovery) during the year 116,080,066 (12,210,220) 31,765,970 (191,231) 135,444,585
Amounts written off during the year as uncollectible (149,394,830) (23,541,192) (12,943,167) - (185,879,189)
Exchange difference (557,139) (482,151) (232,720) (148) (1,272,158)

Expected credit loss allow-ance at 31 December 2019 42,888,585 20,064,585 55,036,115 3,204,231 121,193,516
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In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
Loans to 

Corporate Loans to SME Consumer loans Mortgage loans Total

Expected credit loss allowance at 1 January 2018 55,769,747 27,227,317 8,648,259 3,887,427 95,532,750
Adoption of IFRS 9:
– remeasurement for expected credit losses, net of tax 4,680,085 40,606,567 11,181,904 12,623,998 69,092,554
Credit loss allowance charge/(recovery) during the year 64,533,398 (1,783,049) 16,516,697 (13,116,333) 66,150,713
Amounts written off during the year as uncollectible (49,868,340) (11,341,622) (622,338) - (61,832,300)
Exchange difference 1,645,598 1,588,935 721,510 518 3,956,561

Expected credit loss allow-ance at 31 December 2018 76,760,488 56,298,148 36,446,032 3,395,610 172,900,278

Notes to the Financial Statements – 31 December 2019

13 Loans and Advances to Customers (continued)

Movements in the expected credit loss allowance for loans to legal entities and individuals during 2018 of are as follows:

The credit loss allowance for loans and advances to customers recognised in the period is impacted by a variety of factors. Below main movements in the table 
are described:
• Transfers between Stage 1, 2 and 3 due to balances experiencing significant increases (or decreases) of credit risk or becoming credit-impaired in the 

period, and the consequent "step up" (or "step down") between 12-month and Lifetime ECL;
• Additional allowances for new financial instruments recognised during the period, as well as releases for financial instruments derecognised in the 

period;
• Impact on the measurement of ECL due to changes to model assumptions, including changes in PDs, EADs and LGDs in the period, arising from update of 

inputs to ECL models;
• Unwinding of discount due to the passage of time because ECL is measured on a present value basis;
• Foreign exchange translations of assets denominated in foreign currencies and other move-ments; and
• Write-offs of allowances related to assets that were written off during the period. 

The following table contains an analysis of the credit risk exposure of loans and advances to cus-tomers measured at AC and for which an ECL allowance is 
recognised. The carrying amount of loans and advances to customers below also represents the Bank's maximum exposure to credit risk on these loans.

The credit quality of loans to corporate and individual customers carried at amortised cost is as follows at 31 December 2019:
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In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks Stage 1 (12-months ECL)
Stage 2 (lifetime ECL for 

SICR)
Stage 3 (lifetime ECL for 

credit impaired) Total

Loans to Corporate
- Excellent 838,752,586 - - 838,752,586
- Good - 321,364,372 - 321,364,372
- Satisfactory - - 224,617,591 224,617,591
- Special Monitoring - - 5,365,537 5,365,537
- Default - - 22,147,568 22,147,568

Gross carrying amount 838,752,586 321,364,372 252,130,696 1,412,247,654

Less: Credit loss allowance (4,853,248) (2,261,756) (35,773,581) (42,888,585)

Carrying amount 833,899,338 319,102,616 216,357,115 1,369,359,069

Loans to SME
- Excellent 492,018,337 - - 492,018,337
- Good - 43,602,419 - 43,602,419
- Satisfactory - - 68,865,525 68,865,525
- Special monitoring - - 27,378,394 27,378,394
- Default - - 71,790,149 71,790,149

Gross carrying amount 492,018,337 43,602,419 168,034,068 703,654,824

Less: Credit loss allowance (2,340,345) (778,844) (16,945,396) (20,064,585)

Carrying amount 489,677,992 42,823,575 151,088,672 683,590,239
 
Consumer loans
- Excellent 806,979,991 - - 806,979,991
- Good - 31,547,121 - 31,547,121
- Satisfactory - - 5,399,039 5,399,039
- Special monitoring - - 7,154,440 7,154,440
- Default - - 36,780,466 36,780,466

Gross carrying amount 806,979,991 31,547,121 49,333,945 887,861,057

Less: Credit loss allowance (7,955,628) (5,746,710) (41,333,777) (55,036,115)

Carrying amount 799,024,363 25,800,411 8,000,168 832,824,942

Mortgage loans
- Excellent 255,419,581 - - 255,419,581
- Good - 7,844,416 - 7,844,416
- Satisfactory - - 10,756,667 10,756,667
- Special monitoring - - 5,190,346 5,190,346
- Default - - 10,351,755 10,351,755

Gross carrying amount 255,419,581 7,844,416 26,298,768 289,562,765

Less: Credit loss allowance (356,992) (237,425) (2,609,814) (3,204,231)

Carrying amount 255,062,589 7,606,991 23,688,954 286,358,534
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13 Loans and Advances to Customers (continued)

The credit quality of loans to corporate and individual customers carried at amortised cost is as follows at 31 December 2018:

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks Stage 1 (12-months ECL)
Stage 2 (lifetime ECL for 

SICR)
Stage 3 (lifetime ECL for 

credit impaired) Total

Loans to Corporate
- Excellent 1,011,649,610 15,476,604 293,302,011 1,320,428,225
- Good - - 11,618,418 11,618,418
- Satisfactory - 40,343,460 - 40,343,460
- Default - - 45,733,754 45,733,754

Gross carrying amount 1,011,649,610 55,820,064 350,654,183 1,418,123,857

Less: Credit loss allowance (21,500,948) (8,807,707) (46,451,833) (76,760,488)

Carrying amount 990,148,662 47,012,357 304,202,350 1,341,363,369

Carrying amount
- Excellent 505,255,571 3,342,668 52,699,013 561,297,252
- Good 5,552,755 1,047,854 451,307 7,051,916
- Satisfactory - 5,156,055 1,890,804 7,046,859
- Special monitoring - 3,434,388 3,237,141 6,671,529
- Default - - 92,783,674 92,783,674

Gross carrying amount 510,808,326 12,980,965 151,061,939 674,851,230

Less: Credit loss allowance (4,053,895) (280,435) (51,963,818) (56,298,148)

Carrying amount 506,754,431 12,700,530 99,098,121 618,553,082
 
Consumer loans
- Excellent 830,206,239 32,230 18,906,073 849,144,542
- Good 3,229,720 3,848,133 127,976 7,205,829
- Satisfactory - 5,012,916 257,198 5,270,114
- Special monitoring - 3,052,077 255,308 3,307,385
- Default - - 28,642,596 28,642,596

Gross carrying amount 833,435,959 11,945,356 48,189,151 893,570,466

Less: Credit loss allowance (8,751,589) (2,034,879) (25,659,564) (36,446,032)

Carrying amount 824,684,370 9,910,477 22,529,587 857,124,434

Mortgage loans
- Excellent 225,055,462 146,510 4,987,405 230,189,377
- Good 237,202 747,345 523,189 1,507,736
- Satisfactory - 1,317,286 1,090,664 2,407,950
- Special monitoring - 440,346 600,870 1,041,216
- Default - - 8,475,763 8,475,763

Gross carrying amount 225,292,664 2,651,487 15,677,891 243,622,042

Less: Credit loss allowance (350,927) (120,955) (2,923,728) (3,395,610)

Carrying amount 224,941,737 2,530,532 12,754,163 240,226,432
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Economic sector risk concentrations within the customer loan portfolio are as follows:

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Amount % Amount %

Salary & Consumption 791,226,907 23.08% 761,815,911 22.70%
Trade - Whole & Retail 545,913,879 15.93% 541,699,974 16.14%
Construction 422,582,398 12.33% 398,816,443 11.88%
Mortgage & House maintenance 400,378,858 11.68% 375,513,690 11.19%
Manufacturing 394,394,457 11.51% 319,151,969 9.51%
Mining & Exploration 274,859,201 8.02% 357,749,985 10.66%
Finance 193,418,394 5.64% 76,990,769 2.29%
Transport & Communication 106,902,945 3.12% 80,289,667 2.39%
Car 66,336,919 1.94% 86,891,607 2.59%
Maintenance 48,673,118 1.42% 47,092,648 1.40%
Hotel & Restaurant 39,039,653 1.14% 49,729,008 1.48%
Agriculture 28,433,188 0.83% 37,162,642 1.11%
Home appliances 26,037,725 0.76% 27,690,357 0.82%
Healthcare 25,476,334 0.74% 12,519,860 0.37%
Real estate 21,790,854 0.64% 57,967,721 1.73%
Electricity & Oil 17,297,396 0.50% 99,285,325 2.96%
Education 13,461,562 0.39% 8,830,321 0.26%
Tourism 8,135,169 0.24% 10,717,761 0.32%
Public service 1,502,353 0.04% 1,783,448 0.05%
Social services 1,160,716 0.03% 2,700,038 0.08%
Entrepreneurship 509,752 0.01% 870,541 0.03%
Infrastructure 356,050 0.01% 1,354,337 0.04%
     

Total loans and advances to customers carried at AC and at FVTPL 
before credit loss allowance 3,427,887,828 100% 3,356,624,022 100%
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13 Loans and Advances to Customers (continued)

The Bank's policies regarding obtaining collateral have not significantly changed during the reporting period and there has been no significant change in the 
overall quality of the collateral held by the Bank since the prior period. Description of collateral held for loans to corporate and individual customers carried 
at amortised cost is as follows at 31 December 2019:

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
Loans to 

Corporate Loans to SME Consumer loans Mortgage loans Total

Loans collateralised by:
- residential real estate 121,294,142 201,463,485 29,609,654 243,763,450 596,130,731
- other real estate 682,053,392 316,121,294 16,830,603 10,835,824 1,025,841,113
- tradable securities 114,124,732 - - - 114,124,732
- cash deposits 33,447,223 42,592,228 128,973,886 3,132,481 208,145,818
- machinery and equipment 119,845,225 43,267,969 48,069,510 988,263 212,170,967
- inventories 117,015,893 16,246,445 556,196 534,443 134,352,977
- receivables 26,130,137 - - - 26,130,137
- guarantees 38,384,855 19,087,018 4,711,887 25,062,044 87,245,804
- other assets 17,259,441 4,621,984 6,411,919 870,636 29,163,980

Total 1,269,555,040 643,400,423 235,163,655 285,187,141 2,433,306,259

Unsecured exposures 142,692,615 60,254,401 652,697,402 4,375,624 860,020,042

Total carrying value loans and advances to customers at AC 
(amount representing exposure to credit risk for each class 
of loans at AC)

1,412,247,654 703,654,824 887,861,057 289,562,765 3,293,326,300

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
Loans to 

Corporate Loans to SME Consumer loans Mortgage loans Total

Loans collateralised by:
- residential real estate 66,788,458 85,275,175 27,614,888 198,169,884 377,848,405
- other real estate 331,383,671 227,384,181 12,556,756 15,121,123 586,445,731
- tradable securities 97,970,721 10,544,353 - 80,561 108,595,635
- cash deposits 1,646,093 9,296,484 139,784,083 1,285,374 152,012,034
- machinery and equipment 45,573,433 30,732,744 71,152,500 2,533,476 149,992,153
- inventories 158,518,825 48,716,891 2,633,962 733,847 210,603,525
- receivables 69,195,946 37,464,022 256,989 11,959 106,928,916
- guarantees 380,702,498 138,662,148 12,020,703 23,672,510 555,057,859
- other assets 142,888,651 19,943,857 2,954,305 1,242,366 167,029,179

Total 1,294,668,296 608,019,855 268,974,186 242,851,100 2,414,513,437

Unsecured exposures 123,455,561 66,831,375 624,596,280 770,942 815,654,158

Total carrying value loans and advances to customers at AC 
(amount representing exposure to credit risk for each class 
of loans at AC)

1,418,123,857 674,851,230 893,570,466 243,622,042 3,230,167,595

Description of collateral held for loans to corporate and individual customers carried at amortised cost is as follows at 31 December 2018:
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Other assets mainly include equipment and receivables. The disclosure above represents the lower of the carrying value of the loan or collateral taken; the 
remaining part is disclosed within the unsecured exposures. The carrying value of loans was allocated based on liquidity of the assets taken as collateral.

The following table provides information on carrying value of loans, for which the Bank did not recognise any expected credit loss allowance because of significant 
excess of collateral value over the gross carrying value of these loans.

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks

Over-collateralized assets Under-collateralized assets
Carrying 

value of the 
assets

Fair value of 
collateral

Carrying 
value of the 

assets
Fair value 

of collateral

Credit impaired assets:
Loans carried at AC:
Corporate 142,762,443 296,313,786 109,368,253 22,644,863
SME 96,966,368 277,719,491 71,067,700 31,649,676
Consumer 2,895,502 5,218,118 46,438,443 3,844,137
Mortgage 12,642,745 25,630,125 13,656,023 10,783,749

Total 255,267,058 604,881,520 240,530,419 68,922,425

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks

Over-collateralized assets Under-collateralized assets
Carrying value 

of the assets
Fair value of 

collateral
Carrying value 

of the assets
Fair value of 

collateral

Credit impaired assets:
Loans carried at AC:
Corporate 228,161,854 704,479,637 76,040,496 61,014,351
SME 55,046,992 157,349,560 44,051,129 30,550,960
Consumer 636,828 1,408,323 21,892,759 947,062
Mortgage 7,521,774 17,954,672 5,232,389 4,230,994

Total 291,367,448 881,192,192 147,216,773 96,743,367

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Loans to corporate customers:
Loans to Corporate 449,381,613 191,259,919
Loans to SME 265,337,211 101,418,243

Loans to individuals:
Consumer loans 144,541,060 137,834,602
Mortgage loans 148,240,290 146,894,405

Total significantly over-collateralised loans and advances to customers carried at AC 1,007,500,174 577,407,169

The extent to which collateral and other credit enhancements mitigate credit risk for financial assets carried at amortised cost that are credit impaired, is 
presented by disclosing collateral values separately for (i) those assets where collateral and other credit enhancements are equal to or exceed carrying value of 
the asset (“over-collateralised assets”) and (ii) those assets where collateral and other credit enhancements are less than the carrying value of the asset (“under-
collateralised assets”). The effect of collateral on credit-impaired assets at 31 December 2019 is as follows:

The effect of collateral on credit-impaired assets at 31 December 2018 is as follows:
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Mortgage
In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Loans collateralized by:
- residential real estate 110,344,678 125,235,367
- future revenues 23,745,435 -
- other assets 332,223 430,434
- other real estate 139,192 790,626

Total 134,561,528 126,456,427

Unsecured exposures - -

Total carrying value loans and advances to customers at FVTPL (amount representing exposure 
to credit risk for each class of loans at FVTPL) 134,561,528 126,456,427

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Loans to corporate customers:

Loans to Corporate 110,340,075 23,099,864
Loans to SME 20,498,090 11,341,622

Loans to individuals:

Consumer loans 12,041,777 622,338
Mortgage loans - -

Total 142,879,942 35,063,824

Notes to the Financial Statements – 31 December 2019

13 Loans and Advances to Customers (continued)

The Bank obtains collateral valuation at the time of granting loans and generally updates it every one to two years, depending on the significance of the loan 
exposure. The values of collateral considered in this disclosure are fair value of the collateral and the bank applies haircut of 0-100%, considering liquidity 
and quality of the pledged assets.

Description of collateral held for loans to corporate and individual customers carried at FVTPL is as follows at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018:

Other assets mainly include land. The disclosure above represents the lower of the carrying value of the loan or collateral taken; the remaining part is disclosed 
within the unsecured exposures. The carrying value of loans was allocated based on liquidity of the assets taken as collateral.

The extent to which collateral and other credit enhancements mitigate credit risk for financial assets carried at FVTPL, is presented by disclosing collateral values 
separately for (i) those assets where collateral and other credit enhancements are equal to or exceed carrying value of the asset (“over-collateralised assets”) 
and (ii) those assets where collateral and other credit enhancements are less than the carrying value of the asset (“under-collateralised assets”). There are loans 
at FVTPL in amount of MNT 2,200,004 thousands, which are over-collateralised, and MNT 2,128,785 thousands which are under-collateralised at 31 December 
2019. 

The outstanding contractual amounts of loans and advances to customers written off in the reporting period that are still subject to enforcement activity was as 
follows at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018:
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In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
Loans and advances to 

customers

Year ended 31 December 2019
Amortised cost of loans with lifetime ECL immediately before contractual modification that was not a derecognition event -
Gains less losses recognised in profit or loss on modifications of loans with lifetime ECL that did not lead to derecognition -

Year ended 31 December 2018
Amortised cost of loans with lifetime ECL immediately before contractual modification that was not a derecognition event 15,662,118
Gains less losses recognised in profit or loss on modifications of loans with lifetime ECL that did not lead to derecognition (1,293,892)

The Bank’s policy is to complete legal enforcement steps that were initiated even though the loans were written off, as there is no reasonable expectation of 
recovery.

Information about modifications of loans that have not resulted in derecognition is as follows:

14 Investment Properties

Below is the information on changes in investment properties during the years ended 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018:

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks Note 2019 2018

Investment properties at fair value at 1 January 34,293,822 57,505,587

Disposals (1,179,756) (20,187,920)
Transferred to non-current assets classified as held for sale 20 (3,000,000) -
Transferred from non-current assets classified as held for sale 20 9,055,440 -
Fair value gain/(losses) 3,217,996 (3,023,845)

Investment properties at fair value at 31 December 42,387,502 34,293,822

The Bank’s intention is to keep the premises for the purposes of earning rental income, capital appreciation, or both, and not to occupy premises by the Bank. 
During 2019, buildings, residential apartments, office and commercial spaces in amounted to MNT 9,055,440 thousands were transferred from non-current 
assets classified as held for sale for the purpose of leasing these assets to a third party.
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15 Other Assets

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Other financial assets at AC:
Receivable from companies 10,388,560 19,193,718
Receivable from individuals 5,041,448 3,013,739
Receivables on cash and settlements services 2,048,296 2,796,705
Other financial assets 1,859,265 1,464,870

Less: Credit loss allowance (5,724,292) (8,257,678)

Total other financial assets at AC 13,613,277 18,211,354

Other non-financial assets:
Precious metals 67,091,760 5,240,722
Other non-financial assets 3,429,878 3,097,903
Prepayments for employees benefits 3,314,750 2,115,255
Prepayments for rent 516,992 386,861
Prepayment for maintenance of buildings 407,112 2,833,379
Prepayments for employees 145,886 194,542
Office materials and supplies 38,789 173,661
Other prepayments 12,108,554 12,573,054

Total non-financial assets 87,053,721 26,615,377

Total other assets 100,666,998 44,826,731

The receivables from companies decreased in 2019 as a result of the collections of receivables from prior year. The largest collection was receipt of dividend from 
APU JSC with the amount of MNT 3,537,084 thousand. The balance of precious metal has increased due to increased purchase of metal bars by the Bank during 
2019. 

Tables below contain an analysis of the credit risk exposure of other financial assets at AC at 31 December 2019.
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In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
Stage 1 (12-months 

ECL)
Stage 3 (lifetime ECL for credit 

impaired) Total

Receivables from companies
- Excellent 7,537,685 - 7,537,685
- Satisfactory 400 - 400
- Special monitoring 1,226 - 1,226
- Default - 2,849,249 2,849,249

Gross carrying amount 7,539,311 2,849,249 10,388,560

Less: Credit loss allowance (32,641) (2,849,249) (2,881,890)

Carrying amount 7,506,670 - 7,506,670

Receivables from individuals
- Excellent 2,208,280 - 2,208,280
- Good 125 - 125
- Satisfactory 4,773 - 4,773
- Special monitoring 2,113 - 2,113
- Default - 2,826,157 2,826,157

Gross carrying amount 2,215,291 2,826,157 5,041,448

Less: Credit loss allowance (15,424) (2,826,157) (2,841,581)

Carrying amount 2,199,867 - 2,199,867

Receivables on cash and settlements services
- Excellent 2,047,476 - 2,047,476
- Default - 820 820

Gross carrying amount 2,047,476 820 2,048,296

Less: Credit loss allowance - (820) (820)

Carrying amount 2,047,476 - 2,047,476

Other financial asset
- Excellent 1,859,265 - 1,859,265

Gross carrying amount 1,859,265 - 1,859,265

Less: Credit loss allowance - - -

Carrying amount 1,859,265 - 1,859,265
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15 Other Assets (continued)

Tables below contain an analysis of the credit risk exposure of other financial assets at AC at 31 December 2018.

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
Stage 1 (12-months 

ECL)
Stage 3 (lifetime ECL for credit 

impaired) Total

Receivables from companies
- Excellent 13,727,827 - 13,727,827
- Good 258,553 - 258,553
- Default - 5,207,338 5,207,338

Gross carrying amount 13,986,380 5,207,338 19,193,718

Less: Credit loss allowance (196,110) (5,207,338) (5,403,448)

Carrying amount 13,790,270 - 13,790,270

Receivables from individuals
- Excellent 26,768 - 26,768
- Good 36,317 - 36,317
- Satisfactory 186,616 - 186,616
- Default - 2,764,038 2,764,038

Gross carrying amount 249,701 2,764,038 3,013,739

Less: Credit loss allowance (111,778) (2,742,452) (2,854,230)

Carrying amount 137,923 21,586 159,509

Receivables on cash and settlements services
- Excellent 2,796,705 - 2,796,705

Gross carrying amount 2,796,705 - 2,796,705

Less: Credit loss allowance - - -

Carrying amount 2,796,705 - 2,796,705

Other financial asset
- Excellent 1,464,870 - 1,464,870

Gross carrying amount 1,464,870 - 1,464,870

Less: Credit loss allowance - - -

Carrying amount 1,464,870 - 1,464,870
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16 Intangible Assets

Movements in the provision for asset impairment during 2019 are as follows:

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
Receivable from 

companies
Receivable from 

individuals
Other financial 

assets Total

Provision for asset impairment at 1 January 2019 5,403,448 2,854,230 - 8,257,678
Provision/(reversal) for impairment during the year 2,492,716 195,697 820 2,689,233
Exchange difference 453,842 7,486 - 461,328
Amounts written off during the year as uncollectible (5,468,116) (215,831) - (5,683,947)

Provision for asset impairment at 31 December 2019 2,881,890 2,841,582 820 5,724,292

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
Receivable from 

companies
Receivable from 

individuals
Other financial 

assets Total

Provision for asset impairment at 1 January 2018 - 327,311 2,666,491 2,993,802
Provision/(reversal) for impairment during the year 3,027,665 2,290,579 (2,651,261) 2,666,983
Transfer from repossessed collateral 2,375,783 - - 2,375,783
Exchange difference - 327,043 - 327,043
Amounts written off during the year as uncollectible - (90,703) (15,230) (105,933)

Provision for asset impairment at 31 December 2018 5,403,448 2,854,230 - 8,257,678

The receivables that is not expected to be fully paid are written off in accordance with the Board of Directors’ resolution during 2019.

Movements in the provision for asset impairment during 2018 are as follows:

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
Computer software 

licences Land use right Total

Cost at 1 January 2018 26,049,880 673,313 26,723,193
Accumulated amortization (13,106,368) - (13,106,368)

Carrying amount at 1 January 2018 12,943,512 673,313 13,616,825

Additions 3,217,588 - 3,217,588
Transfers 63,033 - 63,033
Amortisation (2,647,120) - (2,647,120)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2018 13,577,013 673,313 14,250,326

Cost at 1 January 2019 29,330,501 673,313 30,003,814
Accumulated amortization (15,753,488) - (15,753,488)

Carrying amount at 1 January 2019 13,577,013 673,313 14,250,326

Additions 2,980,195 - 2,980,195
Transfers - - -
Amortisation (2,860,510) - (2,860,510)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2019 13,696,698 673,313 14,370,011
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17 Premises and Equipment

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks Premises
Motor 

vehicles

Office 
equipment 

and 
computers Furniture

Leasehold 
improvement

Construction 
in progress

Total 
premises 

and 
equipment

Cost/valuation at 1 January 2018 128,292,953 2,582,101 41,061,584 6,689,986 3,424,066 5,120,101 187,170,791
Accumulated depreciation (11,455,746) (1,472,199) (29,426,776) (2,574,006) (1,686,942) - (46,615,669)

Carrying amount at 1 January 2018 116,837,207 1,109,902 11,634,808 4,115,980 1,737,124 5,120,101 140,555,122

Additions 19,449,909 882,614 3,888,879 842,958 2,229,978 4,888,205 32,182,543
Transfers - 1,115 4,529,306 45,947 - (4,691,519) (115,151)
Disposals (8,708,657) (436,939) (109,409) (3,281) - (305,079) (9,563,365)
Write-offs - - (651,898) (110,357) - (19,656) (781,911)
Depreciation for the year (3,390,412) (255,911) (4,753,852) (358,296) (998,947) - (9,757,418)
Transfers - - 7,436 1,816 - - 9,252
Disposals - 285,165 109,409 3,281 - - 397,855
Write-offs - - 673,705 89,615 - - 763,320
Impairment charge (26,600,000) - - - - - (26,600,000)
Revaluation 3,000,000 - - - - - 3,000,000

Carrying amount at 31 December 2018 100,588,047 1,585,946 15,328,384 4,627,663 2,968,155 4,992,052 130,090,247

Cost/valuation at 1 January 2019 115,434,205 3,028,891 48,718,462 7,465,253 5,654,044 4,992,052 185,292,907
Accumulated depreciation (14,846,158) (1,442,945) (33,390,078) (2,837,590) (2,685,889) - (55,202,660)

Carrying amount at 1 January 2019 100,588,047 1,585,946 15,328,384 4,627,663 2,968,155 4,992,052 130,090,247

Additions 3,740,861 731,500 23,781,906 675,861 2,395,262 - 31,325,390
Transfers - (1,115) 4,309,290 33,422 - (4,341,597) -
Disposals - (121,986) (177,242) (20,414) - - (319,642)
Write-offs - (397,228) (2,354,793) (239,793) - - (2,991,814)
Charge for the year (2,907,744) (305,640) (8,145,581) (470,859) (2,185,692) - (14,015,516)
Transfers - 93 (4,797) 4,588 116 - -
Disposals - 80,332 177,242 16,386 - - 273,960
Write-offs - 384,600 1,531,472 228,029 - - 2,144,101
Revaluation 1,242,104 - - - - - 1,242,104

Carrying amount at 31 December 2019 102,663,268 1,956,502 34,445,881 4,854,883 3,177,841 650,455 147,748,830

Premises have been revalued at fair value as at 31 December 2019. The valuation was carried out by an independent firm of appraisers, M.A.D LLC and Gerege 
Estimate LLC, who hold a recognised and relevant professional qualification and who have recent experience in the valuation of assets in similar locations and in 
a similar category. The basis used for the appraisal was market value of the similar premises located in the Ulaanbaatar. As a result, the bank recognized increase 
in fair value of premises of MNT 1,242,104 thousands through other comprehensive income.

At 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of premises would have been MNT 110,059,260 thousands (2018: MNT 93,626,138 thousands) had the assets been 
carried at cost less depreciation.

The amount reconciles to the carrying value of the premises as follows:
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In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Premises at revalued amount in the statement of financial position 102,663,268 100,588,047
Revaluation reserve presented in equity 7,746,670 (6,855,242)
Realised revaluation reserve (350,676) (106,667)

Premises at cost less accumulated depreciation 110,059,262 93,626,138

18 Right of Use Assets

The Bank leases various offices, space for ATM, garages and archives. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 1 year to 5 years, but may have 
extension options as described below.

Until 31 December 2018 leases of premises and equipment were classified as operating leases. From 1 January 2019, leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset 
and a corresponding liability from the date when the leased asset becomes available for use by the Bank.

The right of use assets by class of underlying items is analysed as follows:

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks Buildings Other Total

Carrying amount at 1 January 2019 7,422,405 1,512 7,423,917

Additions 2,582,021 3,124 2,585,145
Depreciation charge (3,744,907) (1,404) (3,746,311)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2019 6,259,519 3,231 6,262,751

As of 31 December 2019, interest expense on lease liabilities was MNT 851,077 thousands and lease expense related to VAT was MNT 312,608 thousands. 

Expenses relating to short-term leases included in administrative and other operating expenses and to leases of low-value assets that are not shown as short-
term leases are included in administrative and other operating expenses.

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 31 December 2019

Expense relating to short-term leases 2,689,548
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets that are not shown above as short-term leases -

Total cash outflow for leases in 2019 was MNT 7,299,303 thousands.

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased as-sets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be 
used as collateral for borrowings.

Extension and termination options are included in a number of property leases across the Bank. These are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of 
managing the assets used in the Bank’s operations. The majority of extension and termination options held are exercisable only by the Bank and not by the 
respective lessor.

As of 31 December 2019, potential future cash outflows of MNT 165,584 thousands (undiscounted) have been included in the lease liability because it is 
reasonably certain that the leases will be extended or terminated.
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19 Repossessed Collateral

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Financial asset at fair value 131,581,132 35,687,446
Non-financial assets at cost 25,814,241 62,348,741
Less: Impairment provision (6,077,773) (8,134,870)

Total repossessed collaterals 151,317,600 89,901,317

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 2019 2018

Provision for repossessed collaterals at 1 January 8,134,870 2,401,216

Provision for impairment during the year 13,134,432 6,546,401
Transfer of provision from non-current assets classified as held for sale 290,376 1,579,785
Amounts written off during the year as uncollectible (15,481,905) (2,392,532)

Provision for repossessed collaterals at 31 December 6,077,773 8,134,870

Repossessed collateral represents real estate assets and financial assets acquired by the Bank in settlement of overdue loans. The Bank expects to dispose of the 
assets in the foreseeable future. In case of repossessed collateral in the form of financial asset such as equity securities, Bank classifies them for IFRS measurement 
purposes as investments in equity or debt securities and measures them at fair value. The assets were initially recognised at fair value less cost to sell when 
acquired.

During 2019, the Bank recognised MNT 126,392,250 thousands (2018: MNT 98,226,084 thousands) repossessed collateral through foreclosure process and 
reclassified MNT 75,217,941 thousands (2018: MNT 31,165,516 thousands) of assets from repossessed collateral to Non-Current Assets classified as Held for Sale, 
following the management’s intentions in relation to those assets.

Financial assets at fair value as of 31 December 2019 represent shares (equity securities) in three com-panies which the Bank has acquired in the process of 
settlement of overdue loans. The Bank is currently negotiating to sell shares of one of these three companies.

Non-financial assets at cost represent premises, which the Bank has acquired in the process of settlement of overdue loans. The impairment provision disclosed 
above fully relates to non-financial assets.  

Movements in the provision for repossessed non-financial collaterals during 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

20 Non-Current Assets Classified as Held for Sale

Non-current assets classified as held for sale were previously classified as repossessed collateral, acquired by the Bank in settlement of overdue loans. 
Management approved a plan to sell non-current assets on each transfer of asset. The Bank is actively marketing these assets and expects the sale to complete 
within 12 months. 

Major classes of non-current assets classified as held for sale are as follows:
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In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Residential apartments or houses 37,137,820 22,160,668
Buildings 3,000,000 6,515,813
Office and commercial spaces 16,942,504 5,985,115
Equipment - 100,219
Other 45,000 15,274

Total non-current assets held for sale 57,125,324 34,777,089

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Short-term placements of other banks 20,070,762 10,421,840
Long-term placements of other banks 32,857,750 138,344,887

Total due to other banks 52,928,512 148,766,727

21 Due to Other Banks

Amount due to other banks and financial institutions represent foreign currency and local currency ac-counts and time deposits placed with Mongolian and 
foreign banks. The decrease in amounts of due to other banks mainly relates to long term placements from a Development bank of Mongolia and Bank of Inner 
Mongolia.

At 31 December 2019, short-term placement relates to current accounts from local and foreign banks, and deposits from local banks and foreign banks with 
interest rates ranging from 6.8% p.a. to 12% p.a. (2018: from 2.0% p.a. to 8.5% p.a.) and original maturities ranging from 30 to 180 days (2018: from 90 to 255 
days).

22 Customer Accounts

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Individuals 2,683,544,463 2,537,012,206
- Current/demand accounts 205,586,435 223,296,003
- Demand deposits 433,531,162 449,762,246
- Term deposits 2,044,426,866 1,863,953,957

Legal entities 1,415,945,338 1,206,238,193
- Current/settlement accounts 1,001,280,367 806,226,749
- Demand deposits 59,107,295 53,246,389
- Term deposits 355,557,676 346,765,055

State and public organizations 749,455,811 600,166,091
- Current/settlement accounts 598,852,742 421,317,586
- Demand deposits 26,940,128 162,976,504
- Term deposits 123,662,941 15,872,001

Other 51,696,010 59,231,857
- Current/demand accounts 33,757,181 29,505,266
- Demand deposits 858,825 476,317
- Term deposits 17,080,004 29,250,274

Total customer accounts 4,900,641,622 4,402,648,347
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22 Customer Accounts (continued)

According to the Mongolian Civil Code, the Bank is obliged to repay deposits to individual depositors at short notice. If a fixed-term deposit is withdrawn by the 
depositor ahead of term, interest is payable at the rate paid by the Bank on demand deposits unless otherwise specified by the contract.

The management currently does not monitor concentration of customer accounts per economic sec-tors. Therefore, related information is not disclosed in these 
financial statements. At 31 December 2019, the aggregate amount of the top 30 biggest customers is MNT 1,457,335,939 thousands (31 December 2018: MNT 
1,237,360,831 thousands) or 30% of total customer accounts (31 December 2018: 28%).

At 31 December 2019, included in customer accounts are deposits of MNT 30,671,623 thousands (2018: MNT 24,303,006 thousands) held as collateral for 
irrevocable commitments under bank guarantee.

23 Other Borrowed Funds

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 31 December 2019 31 December 2018

(a) Borrowed funds under projects
Borrowed funds under Project /MNT/ 228,664,832 283,821,469
Borrowed funds under Project /USD/ 307,940 394,699
Borrowed funds under Project /EUR/ 180,286 351,848

Total borrowed funds under projects 229,153,058 284,568,016

(b) Borrowings from foreign banks and financial institutions
Borrowings from other foreign bank /USD/ 538,666,774 270,858,492

Trade finance from foreign banks and financial institutions
Trade finance from foreign banks and financial institutions /USD/ 109,553,747 122,442,026
Trade finance from foreign banks and financial institutions /EUR/ 35,429,480 21,410,285
Trade finance from foreign banks and financial institutions /JPY/ 2,110,565 13,577,630
Trade finance from foreign banks and financial institutions /CNY/ 1,118,538 2,996,334
Trade finance from foreign banks and financial institutions /GBP/ - -

Total borrowings from foreign banks and financial institutions 686,879,104 431,284,767

TOTAL 916,032,162 715,852,783
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The terms of the borrowing agreements with government organizations, central bank, and international financial institutions are provided in below table.

Most of these funds are obtained for specific purposes (issuing loans at advantageous rates to target customers), defined by the lenders or the Government of 
Mongolia, and therefore they are obtained at interest rates which may be lower than rates at which the Bank could source the funds from other lenders. Interest 
rate on most of these borrowed funds ranges between 1.2% to 13.15% p.a., while interest rate on most of the loans issued from these sources range between 5% 
and 13% p.a. The management considered whether initial gain on recognition of these borrowings should be recognised and concluded that they meet definition 
of principal market and that no gains or losses should arise on initial recognition of related borrowings and loans to customers. The major programs include 
funding from the Development Bank of Mongolia on funding specific sectors or types of projects that are related to key priorities for development of Mongolian 
economy (e.g. achieving diversification of economy) by the Government of Mongolia. These programs are briefly outlined below.

Under Housing Mortgage Program, the Bank received funds during 2014, 2015 and 2016 from the Bank of Mongolia for a mortgage loan program implemented 
by the Government at an interest rate of 4% p.a. Newly issued loans or refinanced loans need to meet specific requirements (apartments with maximum area 
of 80 square meters, down payment of at least 30% apartment purchase price, good customer’s credit history with respective bank and other Mongolian banks 
etc.) in order to qualify for this program.

As a result of such financing, the Bank is able to advance funds to target customers as determined by its lenders, at advantageous rates of 8% p.a. defined by the 
Bank of Mongolia i.e. the Bank has no discretionary rights in determining interest rates on issued loans. The Bank approves all loans disbursement or refinancing 
under 8% interest rate and bears the credit risk.

In 2018, the Bank participated in the Government program to support the national cashmere factories for providing below market working capital loan to 
produce raw materials through Development Bank of Mongolia and the interest rate of the funding is 10% p.a. with maturity date of 15 December 2019, The 
Bank can grant loans to the customers at advantageous interest rate of 12%-13% p.a. During 2019, the programs have ended as per the terms of the agreement. 
However, the parties have extended its maturity date to 27 December 2021.

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Government price stabilization program
Housing mortgage program 132,474,795 161,558,852
Other borrowing under project 1,320,500 1,321,079
Project loan of KFW bank 851,287 1,782,219

Projects financed by Development Bank of Mongolia
Project on national cashmere factories 42,886,928 36,127,923
MNCCI leather processing project 5,385,350 9,919,768
Project on meat production 2,905,297 3,955,772
Other borrowing under project 1,425,390 4,808,919
Project 888 to support export and substitute import - 7,719,637

Joint projects of Mongolian government and JICA
Borrowings under SME industry support fund 9,921,098 14,235,098

Other government projects
Borrowings under Agriculture and Rural Development Project 29,963,289 18,911,045
Borrowings under SME industry support fund 1,652,842 2,923,663
Other borrowing under project 307,940 403,123
Student development program 53,158 128,509
Borrowings under 40000 Housing Unit Development program 5,184 7,726
Project to support employment - 20,016,730
Project 888 to support export and substitute import - 747,953

Total 229,153,058 284,568,016

(a) Borrowed funds under projects
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23 Other Borrowed Funds (continued)

(a) Borrowed funds under projects

Since July 2014, the Bank participates in another Government project targeting specific industry, "Man-ufacturing and Processing of Leather Products (MNCCI)” 
with Development Bank of Mongolia. Related funding from the DBM is obtained at interest rate of 5% p.a. and related loans are issued to customers at 
advantageous interest rates of 7% p.a., as per terms of the arrangement. All customers must be approved by Ministry of Food and Agriculture. The Bank bears 
the credit risk in this arrangement.

The Bank participates in the Government program of financing 888 projects to support export and substitute import products in Mongolia through Development 
Bank of Mongolia and commercial banks. As a part of this arrangement, the Bank received funding at interest rates ranging from 3% p.a. to 5 % p.a. with maturity 
of 5 years and maximum interest rate on issued loans ranging from 7% p.a. to 9% p.a., which represent advantageous interest rates. The Bank has discretionary 
rights to determine interest rates within the defined threshold and bears credit risk in this arrangement. During 2019, the programs have ended as per the terms 
of the agreement. The Bank has fully repaid all of outstanding amounts within these programs. 

On 10 February 2017, the Bank participates in the Government program of financing project to support employment for providing small and medium sized loans 
to individuals and enterprises to create work-places and manufacturing. The Bank received related funding from the General Agency for Labour Welfare Service 
at interest rate of 3% p.a., with maturity of 2 years. The Bank bears the credit risk in this arrangement. During 2019, the programs have ended as per the terms of 
the agreement. The Bank has fully repaid all of outstanding amounts within these programs.

The Bank participates in the Government financed program for improving agricultural industry, which is run by Development Bank of Mongolia (DBM). The Bank 
entered into the agreement with the DBM under this program for financing small and medium sized enterprises, which operate in specified industries including 
constructing greenhouse farm, milk and dairy products manufacturing, sewing, renewing cashmere technology and production of woollen goods. Under this 
arrangement, the Bank obtained funding at interest rates ranging from 5.13% p.a. to 5.7 % p.a. and issued loans to customers at advantageous interest rate of 
8% p.a., which is defined in the contract with the DBM. The Bank bears the credit risk in this arrangement.

Furthermore, within the Government project to support export and substitute import products in Mon-golia, the Bank entered into an arrangement with the 
Development Bank of Mongolia on financing of small and medium-sized projects. The funding bears interest rate of 6% p.a. with maturity date of 5 March 2019. 
The Bank has discretionary rights to determine the interest rate up to 9% p.a., at which the loans are issued to the targeted customers. During 2019, the programs 
have ended as per the terms of the agreement. The Bank has fully repaid all of outstanding amounts within these programs.
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Category Funding source Name of Project Currency
Disbursement 

date Maturity date

Principle 
balance as of 31 
December 2019 
in thousands of 

original currency

Principle 
balance as of 31 
December 2019 
in thousands of 

MNT

Go
ve
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m

en
t 

pr
ice

 
st

ab
ili

za
tio

n 
pr

og
ra

m
Bank of Mongolia Housing mortgage program MNT 6/14/2013 12/25/2020 132,474,795 132,474,795
Bank of Mongolia Other borrowing under project MNT 2/24/2015 5/9/2020 1,320,500 1,320,500
Bank of Mongolia Project loan of KFB bank MNT 5/16/2013 12/27/2021 671,000 671,000
Bank of Mongolia Project loan of KFB bank EUR 12/11/2012 12/27/2020 59 180,287

Pr
oj
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De
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en
t B
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f M
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lia Development Bank 

of Mongolia Project on national cashmere factories MNT 7/5/2018 12/27/2021 42,886,928 42,886,928

Development Bank 
of Mongolia MNCCI leather processing project MNT 8/22/2014 6/25/2021 5,385,350 5,385,350

Development Bank 
of Mongolia Project on meat production MNT 3/25/2016 2/28/2020 2,905,297 2,905,297

Development Bank 
of Mongolia

Projects to support export and substitute 
import /up to 300 billion/ MNT 9/28/2015 11/7/2020 1,425,390 1,425,390
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t p
ro

je
ct

s o
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M
on

go
lia

n 
go

ve
rn
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t 
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d 
JIC

A

JICA Borrowings under SME industry support 
fund MNT 6/12/2009 6/1/2028 9,921,098 9,921,098

Ot
he

r g
ov

er
nm

en
t p

ro
je

ct
s Government Borrowings under Agriculture and Rural 

Development Project MNT 2/10/2011 10/1/2025 29,963,289 29,963,289

Government Borrowings under SME industry support 
fund MNT 6/12/2015 1/10/2021 1,652,842 1,652,842

Government Student development program MNT 11/30/2016 11/30/2026 53,158 53,158

Government Borrowings under 40000 Housing Unit 
Development program MNT 2/27/2008 1/19/2022 5,187 5,184

Government Other borrowing under project USD 4/1/2010 5/1/2027 113 307,940

(a) Borrowings from foreign banks and financial institutions

Borrowings from other foreign bank represent loans obtained from foreign banks and financial institution in the amount of USD 100,000 thousands on 27 
September 2018 and USD 100,000 thousands on 28 March 2019 with maturities of 60 months. Moreover, the face amount of USD 7,500 has borrowed on 26 
September 2017 with maturity of 97 months. The borrowings are collateralized by the Bank’s current account at these banks (refer to Note 10).

During 2019, the Bank has repaid in the amount of USD 1,339 thousands borrowing from USD 7,500 thousands.

The Bank obtained uncommitted revolving trade credit lines from international banks and financial institutions to fund its trade loans to customers. As of 31 
December 2019 the Bank utilised MNT 100,102,203 thousands (31 December 2018: MNT 159,380,055 thousands) of related credit lines and issued loans for the 
same amount. International banks and financial institutions for the purpose of import financing of transactions of customers provide funding. The term of such 
funding is up to 4 years and cash flows from customers and payment to foreign banks are matching in terms of the timing of payment and principal amount. The 
Bank bears the credit risk in the case of non-payment by the customer. The increase in trade finance relates to ordinary course of business activities as well as new 
funding in USD and EUR from foreign banks.

At 31 December 2019, the Bank has no breach on borrowings from foreign banks and financial institutions.

24 REPO Arrangements

As of 31 December 2019, sale and repurchase agreements relate to placements from local banks and financial institutions, bearing interest rate of 11.0% p.a. 
(2018: from 11.0% p.a. to 13.0% p.a), with original maturities of 28 days (2018: from 2 to 28 days). These placements are fully collateralized by the Bank of 
Mongolia treasury bills disclosed in Note 11.
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25 Other Liabilities

Other liabilities comprise the following:

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Other financial liabilities at AC: 100,127,218 29,437,983
Liabilities for loans sold to MIK with recourse 71,974,148 3,299,435
Liabilities for settlements of transactions 20,171,704 15,906,110
Other 6,025,535 5,503,688
Trade payable 1,955,831 4,728,750

Other non-financial liabilities: 6,028,921 17,148,125
Taxes payable other than on income 2,521,925 5,251,595
Provision for credit related commitments 1,937,760 3,399,224
Payables to employees 1,430,948 5,363,580
Dividend payable - 3,133,726
Other 138,288 -

Total other liabilities 106,156,139 46,586,108

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Subordinated loans from Golomt Financial Group 172,027,616 92,582,956

Total 172,027,616 92,582,956

The Bank participated in one tranche of monetization transactions with MIK in 2019 for selling of mortgage loans with recourse. The Bank sold MNT 70 billion of 
mortgage loans to MIK during 2019, for which the bank received funding bearing interest rate at 16.5% p.a. The Bank retained all the risks and rewards related 
to the loans sold to MIK within these transactions. 

The increased amount of liabilities for settlement of transactions relate to amounts transferred to other banks in early January 2020, at customers’ requests made 
in late December 2019. As a result, related amounts were transferred from customers’ accounts to the accounts used for settlement of transactions within ‘Other 
financial liabilities’ as of 31 December 2019 and further cleared through interbanking settlement in early January 2020.

The Bank received deferred income of MNT 138,287 thousands from consulting service. According to the IFRS 15, the Bank allocates the transaction price of 
consulting service to each performance obligation.

Most of the other financial liabilities are expected to be settled within twelve months after the year-end. All non-financial liabilities are of a short-term nature.

26 Subordinated Debt
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In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks Maturity date Currency Interest rate p.a. Face value in currency

Golomt Financial Group LLC (I) 31/12/2024 MNT 12.6% 80,000,000
Golomt Financial Group LLC (II) 31/12/2024 MNT 12.6% 80,000,000
Golomt Financial Group LLC (III) 31/12/2024 MNT 12.6% 12,000,000

Subordinated loan from Golomt Financial Group LLC (I, II)

The Bank received a MNT 160 billion, 5-year subordinated loan from Golomt Financial Group LLC in 31 December 2019. The principal terms are given below:

(a)  The loan bears interest at 12.6% per annum.
(b)  The loan shall be repaid in full with the accrued interest on 31 December 2024.

Subordinated loan from Golomt Financial Group LLC (III)

The Bank received a MNT 12 billion, 5-year subordinated loan from Golomt Financial Group LLC in 31 December 2019. The principal terms are given below:

(a)  The loan bears interest at 12.6% per annum.
(b)  The loan shall be repaid in full with the accrued interest on 31 December 2024.

These subordinated debts were initially funded by shareholders with an intention of equity injection during 2018 and 2019. As at 31 December 2019, it was 
restructured to subordinated debt from share capital and preferred shares.

None of the other subordinated debt agreements had financial or other covenants as of 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018.  

27 Share Capital

Subordinated loans as of the year ended 31 December 2019:

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks except for number of shares

Number of 
outstanding 

shares
Ordinary 

shares
Share 

premium
Preference 

shares Total

At 1 January 2018 26,367,593 26,367,593 46,583,557 25,778,900 98,730,050

New shares issued 5,173,444 5,173,444 69,826,556 50,000,000 125,000,000
Conversion of the subordinated loans 780,820 780,820 11,219,180 - 12,000,000

At 31 December 2018 32,321,857 32,321,857 127,629,293 75,778,900 235,730,050

At 1 January 2019 32,321,857 32,321,857 127,629,293 75,778,900 235,730,050

Cancelation of share issue (5,954,264) (5,954,264) (81,045,736) (50,000,000) (137,000,000)
Conversion of the subordinated loans 5,646,905 5,646,905 88,588,145 - 94,235,050

At 31 December 2019 32,014,498 32,014,498 135,171,702 25,778,900 192,965,100

The nominal registered amount of the Bank’s issued share capital is MNT 32,014,498 thousands (2018: MNT 32,321,857 thousands).

Share premium represents the excess of contributions received over the nominal value of shares issued.

The number of ordinary shares issued in 2019 was 5,646,905 with par value MNT 1,000 and share premium represents the excess of contributions received over 
the nominal value of shares issued.
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Shareholder Number of shares Par amount
Subscription price 

per share Date

Golomt Financial Group LLC 5,646,905 1,000 16,688 10/22/2019
Golomt Financial Group LLC (2,245,367) 1,000 13,361 12/31/2019
Bodi International LLC (2,928,077) 1,000 15,368 10/22/2019
Golomt Financial Group LLC (780,820) 1,000 15,368 12/31/2019

Shareholder

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Ownership (%) Ownership (%)

Golomt Financial Group LLC 86.63% 77.69%
Bodi International LLC 0.00% 9.06%
Swiss-Mo Investment A.G 8.22% 8.14%
Golomt Investment Co.,Ltd 4.06% 4.02%
ESOP 1.09% 1.08%
Total 100% 100%

Notes to the Financial Statements – 31 December 2019

27 Share Capital (continued)

Ordinary shares

The total authorised number of ordinary shares is 32,014,498 shares (31 December 2018: 32,321,857 shares), with a par value of MNT 1,000 per share (2018: 
MNT 1,000 per share). Subordinated loan from Golomt Financial Group LLC in the amount of USD 25 million was converted into ordinary shares and excess of 
contributions over nominal value at MNT 1,000 is recognised as share premium.

As a result of authentication audit, the President of Central Bank of Mongolia cancelled the authoriza-tion for ordinary shares of MNT 45,000,000 thousands and 
transferred MNT 42,000,000 thousands of investment for ordinary shares to subordinated debt.

The following table shows issued shares during 2019:

On 22 October 2019, 5,646,905 fully paid shares of the Bank at MNT 1,000 each were issued to Golomt Financial Group LLC at the price of a subscription to the 
converted subordinated debt in the amount of MNT 16,687.91 per share. The amount of MNT 88,588,145 thousands arising from the issuance of ordinary shares 
has been included in the share premium account. The new ordinary shares issued rank pari passu in all respect with the existing ordinary shares of the Bank. 

The shareholders of the Bank as of 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 and the percentages of ownership are as follows:

Preferred shares

2Mr.Zorigt, a business partner of Mr.Bayasgalan, holds 25,778,900 preferred shares with USD 15,000,000, which is equivalent to MNT 25,778,900 thousands 
issued on 19 December 2013 and terms are further amended on 26 December 2013.

Preferred shares are non-cumulative, perpetual and the agreement states that the Bank has a discretionary right to convert the preferred shares into ordinary 
shares based on Board of Director's approval.

According to the Bank of Mongolia's resolution, MNT 50,000,000 thousands of investment for preferred shares were transferred to subordinated debt. The Bank 
issued non-cumulative and perpetual preferred shares with nominal value of MNT 50,000,000 thousands, which is acquired by Golomt Financial Group LLC on 
22 June 2018. 
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In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 2019 2018
Interest income calculated using the effective interest method
Loans and advances to customers at AC 470,513,477 389,853,131
Debt securities FVTOCI 41,537,995 45,938,702
Due from other banks at AC 20,652,385 10,664,550
Cash and cash equivalents 18,536,242 11,832,603
Debt securities at AC 5,138,380 5,223,007
Reverse repurchase agreements at AC 579,119 341,298

Total interest income calculated using the effective inter-est method 556,957,598 463,853,291

Other similar income
Loans and advances to customers at FVTPL 10,475,532 10,422,164
Debt securities FVTPL 10,458,601 19,685,473

Total other similar income 20,934,133 30,107,637

Total interest income 577,891,731 493,960,928

Interest expense
Customer accounts (309,233,601) (271,060,624)
Other borrowed funds (39,129,879) (28,154,692)
Subordinated loans (6,259,246) (8,618,672)
Due to other banks (5,593,306) (9,437,394)
Repurchase agreements (4,939,558) (5,983,774)

Total interest expense (365,155,590) (323,255,156)

Other similar expense
Lease expense (851,077) -

Total other similar expense (851,077) -

Total interest and other similar expense (366,006,667) (323,255,156)

Net interest income 211,885,064 170,705,772

The increase in the interest income from loans and advances to customers is due to increased amount of loans disbursed to customers in 2019. Further, interest 
income from cash and balances with central bank includes MNT 14,047,899 thousands (2018: MNT 10,563,116 thousands), which relates to interest income on 
placed mandatory reserves received from the Bank of Mongolia based on the resolution of the Bank of Mongolia applicable to all Mongolian banks, as the Bank 
maintained the required level of mandatory reserve during 2019.

Interest income includes approximately MNT 8,200,000 thousands (2018: MNT 13,500,000 thousands) of interest income, recognised on credit impaired loans to 
customers. Management believes that related amounts are fully recoverable, given that impaired loans and advances to customers have high collateral coverage 
and that non-recoverable amount of interest income is not recognised in the profit or loss account for 2019 and 2018 in accordance with IFRS requirements. 
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29 Fee and Commission Income and Expense

30 Other Operating Income and Expenses

31 Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 2019 2018
Fee and commission income
Commissions on operations with plastic cards 30,182,400 25,517,747
Remittance and other service fees 14,782,946 11,311,608
Commissions on documentary business and guarantees 5,236,275 5,735,161
Account service fee and commissions 4,108,079 3,979,242
Brokerage and other service fee 788,642 845,507

Total fee and commission income 55,098,342 47,389,265

Fee and commission expense
Card transaction expense (13,044,239) (9,289,774)
Bank service expense (2,646,484) (2,352,103)
Online transaction expense (855,456) (559,770)
Brokerage and other service fee (548,149) (121,709)

Total fee and commission expense (17,094,328) (12,323,356)

Net fee and commission income 38,004,014 35,065,909

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 2019 2018
Income from repayment of loans which were written off 1,753,453 15,650,555
Gain or loss on disposal of premises and equipment (1,536,773) (2,501,390)
Other 807,504 1,817,421

Total other operating income 1,024,184 14,966,586

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks Note 2019 2018
Staff costs 47,180,146 44,649,282
Information, consulting and other professional services 24,467,538 21,216,368
Depreciation of premises and equipment 17 14,015,516 9,757,418
Advertising and marketing services 4,596,148 3,405,405
Telecommunications expense 4,214,423 3,801,841
Depreciation of right of use assets 18 3,746,311 -
Amortisation of software and other intangible assets 16 2,860,510 2,647,120
Short term lease expense 2,689,548 6,441,230
Taxes (other than income tax) 2,049,702 1,988,797
Security expense 1,827,825 1,549,515 
Loan collection expenses 1,728,379 1,774,199
Transportation 1,413,818 1,183,079
Utilities 1,216,332 1,013,836
Travelling expenses 1,124,938 1,281,742
Voluntary and mandatory insurance 745,739 579,993
Entertainment 689,375 803,560
Donations 20,771 23,351
Other 7,418,811 7,976,232

Total administrative and other operating expenses 122,005,830 110,092,968
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In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 2019 2018
Current tax 11,756,756 5,131,443
Deferred tax (3,166,530) 16,922,117

Income tax expense for the year 8,590,226 22,053,560

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 2019 2018
Profit before tax  24,894,906     75,599,800
Theoretical tax charge at statutory rate (2019: 25%; 2018: 25%) 6,223,727 18,899,950
Tax effect of items which are not deductible or assessable for taxation purposes:
- Effect of income subject to lower rate (450,000) (450,000)
- Income which is exempt from taxation (565,048) (3,373,744)
- Income which is taxed at different rates (24,044) (410,568)
- Non-deductible expenses 3,004,994 1,396,340
- Expiration of availability of unused tax losses recognised in prior period - 5,324,836
- Other 400,597 666,746

Income tax expense/(credit) for the year 8,590,226 22,053,560

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 2019 2018
Staff costs consist of:
Salaries, wages and bonus 40,489,040 39,104,231
Contribution to social and health fund 5,226,212 4,173,690
Staff benefits 643,356 539,207
Staff training 623,391 795,651
Pension fund 198,147 36,503

Total staff costs 47,180,146 44,649,282

32 Income Taxes

(a) Components of income tax expense / (benefit)

Income tax expense recorded in profit or loss for the year comprises the following:

(b) Reconciliation between the tax expense and profit or loss multiplied by applicable tax rate

The Bank provides for income taxes on the basis of income for financial reporting purposes, adjusted for items which are not assessable or deductible for income 
tax purposes. The income tax rate for profits of the Bank is 10% for the first MNT 3 billion (2018: MNT 3 billion) of taxable income, and 25% (2018: 25%) on the 
excess of taxable income over MNT 3 billion (2018: MNT 3 billion) in accordance with Mongolian tax legislation.

(c) Deferred taxes analysed by type of temporary difference

Differences between IFRS and statutory taxation regulations in Mongolia give rise to temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities 
for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
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In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 1 January 2019

Credited/ 
(charged) to 
profit or loss

Charged directly 
to equity

31 December 
2019

Tax effect of deductible / (taxable) temporary differences and tax loss carry 
forwards:

Loans and advances to customers - interest income on loans overdue more than 90 days (9,850,031) 1,467,901 - (8,382,130)
Fair valuation of securities at FVTPL (2,414,557) 1,025,982 - (1,388,575)
Fair valuation of equity securities at FVTOCI 3,032,665 - 2,231,154 5,263,819
Credit loss allowance of securities at AC and FVTOCI 488,805 (430,132) - 58,673
Credit loss allowance of due from other banks - 209,850 - 209,850
Fair value changes of derivative financial instruments (29,145,005) 603,540 - (28,541,465)
Loan and advances to customers 12,782,841 (3,170,837) - 9,612,004
Prepaid income – loan origination fee 2,737,249 (373,393) - 2,363,856
Impairment of buildings 11,034,541 (305,963) - 10,728,578

Provision charge for repossessed collateral, gains less losses on revaluation of investment 
properties and provision for non-current asset held for sale 1,912,404 4,091,206 - 6,003,610

Initial loss and modification loss related to loans and advances 4,559,226 125,928 - 4,685,154
Other (444,804) (77,553) - (522,357)

Net deferred tax asset/(liability (5,306,666) 3,166,529 2,231,154 91,017

Notes to the Financial Statements – 31 December 2019

32 Income Taxes (continued)

(c) Deferred taxes analysed by type of temporary difference (continued)

The tax effect of the movements in these temporary differences in 2019 is detailed below and is recorded at the rate of 25%:
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In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
31 December 

2017

Effect of 
adopting IFRS 9 

to equity
1 January 2018 

adjusted

Credited/ 
(charged) to 
profit or loss

Credited 
to other 

comprehensive 
income

31 December 
2018

Tax effect of deductible/(taxable) temporary 
differences and tax loss carry forwards:

Loans and advances to customers - interest 
income on loans overdue more than 90 days (10,514,987) - (10,514,987) 664,956 - (9,850,031)

Fair valuation of securities at FVTPL (99,338) (13,920,863) (14,020,201) 11,605,644 - (2,414,557)
Fair valuation of equity securities at FVTOCI - 477,121 477,121 - 2,555,544 3,032,665

Credit loss allowance of securities at AC and 
FVTOCI - 557,989 557,989 (69,184) - 488,805

Fair valuation of investment securities AFS (13,443,742) 13,443,742 - - - -

Fair value changes of derivative financial 
instruments (8,818,365) - (8,818,365) (20,326,640) - (29,145,005)

Loan and advances to customers 6,302,458 18,052,989 24,355,447 (11,572,606) - 12,782,841
Prepaid income – loan origination fee 1,532,880 - 1,532,880 1,204,369 - 2,737,249
Impairment of buildings 5,039,406 - 5,039,406 5,995,135 - 11,034,541
Provision charge for repossessed collateral, 
gains less losses on revaluation of investment 
properties and provision for non-current asset 
held for sale

- - - 1,912,404 - 1,912,404

Write down of previously recognised deferred tax 
loss carry forwards 5,400,541 - 5,400,541 (5,400,541) - -

Utilisation of previously recognised deferred tax 
loss carry forwards 5,324,836 - 5,324,836 (5,324,836) - -

Other (274,760) - (274,760) 4,389,182 - 4,114,422

Net deferred tax asset/(liability) (9,551,071) 18,610,978 9,059,907 (16,922,117) 2,555,544 (5,306,666)

The tax effect of the movements in these temporary differences in 2018 is detailed below and is recorded at the rate of 25%:
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